




TO OUR SHAREHOLDERSFebruary 25, 2010

President’s Message

Guyana Goldfields continued to deliver strong shareholder value last year and achieved a number of significant 
milestones which have enhanced the value proposition of Guyana Goldfields. 

Following the successful merger with Aranka at the beginning of the year and after completing further 
acquisitions to its land package, an aggressive exploration program was completed to further identify gold 
mineralization. Total drilling at Aranka over the year included 6 holes and 1,641 meters. Further strategic 
exploration will continue throughout 2010 as highly prospective targets are investigated and pursued.

Drilling at Aurora for the year totaled 229 holes and 43,015 meters. Initiatives included further infill and 
exploration drilling within the “Golden Square Mile” where we discovered a new gold zone near Mad Kiss. 
The company will be pursuing this new zone in 2010 and conducting further exploration and infill drilling 
activities at Aurora. The addition of a new VP, Exploration provides the company with the leadership 
expertise required to advance the exploration of our assets.

We remain committed to the highest social responsibility standards and continue to work with the Guyanese 
Government and local communities. A Preliminary Environmental Impact Assessment was completed and 
submitted to the Guyanese Government. The full ESIA was completed to IFC (International Finance 
Corporation of the World Bank Group) standards and is expected to be submitted in the first quarter of 2010. 

We also expect to receive the full permit to build and operate the mine in the second quarter of 2010. 
The Definitive Feasibility Study was awarded to AMEC of Oakville, Ontario who successfully delivered 
a positive Resource Estimate and Preliminary Assessment (PA) in August. An updated resource estimate of 
4.58 million ounces was issued using revised cut-off grades in both the open pit and the underground mine of 
0.85 g/T and 2.0 g/T respectively (indicated resource of 24.1 million tonnes at 4.1 g/T for 3.2 million ounces 
and inferred resource of 12.9 million tonnes at 3.3 g/T for 1.4 million ounces). The study demonstrated 
the robustness and cost effectiveness of the project and its high-grade nature. The PA is the first phase of 
a two-phase Pre-development Study. Phase 2 is taking place from September 2009 to September 2010 and 
will conclude with the submission of the NI 43-101 report and Definitive Feasibility Study at the end of the third 
quarter of 2010. 

We commenced the Feasibility Study for the Hydroelectric Project, which had been awarded to MWH of 
Argentina. This study will assess a clean-energy alternative to heavy fuel oil generated power along with its 
environmental and cost benefits and will be completed in the third quarter of 2010.

The company completed 2 financings in the last year totaling CDN $89.6M with net proceeds being used 
towards advancing the Pre-development Studies and to continue exploration at both Aurora and Aranka. 
Proceeds will also be used towards preliminary development and infrastructure work at Aurora in 2010. 
A decision on the development of the Aurora Gold Project will be made at the end of the third quarter of 2010. 
Once again, we extend our appreciation to our shareholders for their continued support over the past year. 

We expect to deliver continued upside as we complete a number of milestones 
and advance towards development.

Claude Lemasson, P.Eng., MBA
President and Chief Operating Officer
Guyana Goldfields Inc.
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The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the 
operations of Guyana Goldfields Inc. (the “Company” or “GGI”) constitutes management’s review of the factors 
that affected the Company’s financial and operating performance for the year ended October 31, 2009. References 
to “Guyana Goldfields” in this MD&A refer to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole. This MD&A was 
written to comply with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. This 
discussion dated January 8, 2010, should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended October 31, 2009, together with the notes thereto, and the audited 
annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2008, together with the notes there-
to. Results are reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. The audited annual consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Cana-
dian GAAP”). Information contained herein is presented as at January 8, 2010, unless otherwise indicated.

Amounts in US dollars were converted to Canadian dollars at a rate of $1 US = $1.0819 Canadian dollars.

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management in conjunction with the Board of Directors consider 
the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would 
reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of GGI common shares 
(“Common Shares”); or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it impor-
tant in making an investment decision; or (iii) if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available 
to investors. Management in conjunction with the Board of Directors evaluate materiality with reference to all 
relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.

Further information about the Company and its operations is available on GGI’s website at www.guygold.com 
or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

The Company is a reporting issuer under applicable securities legislation in the provinces of Alberta, British 
Columbia, Ontario and Quebec and its outstanding Common Shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
under the symbol “GUY”.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for statements of historical fact relating to the Company, certain information contained in this MD&A 
constitutes “forward-looking information” under Canadian securities legislation. Forward-looking information 
includes, but is not limited to, statements with respect to the potential of the Company’s properties; the future 
price of gold; success of exploration activities; cost and timing of future exploration and development; the 
estimation of mineral reserves and mineral resources; conclusions of economic evaluations; requirements for 
additional capital; and other statements relating to the financial and business prospects of the Company.

Generally, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as 
“plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “in-
tends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, “believes”, or variations of such words and phrases. Forward-
looking information may also be identified in statements where certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, 
“would”, “might” or “will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. Forward-looking information is based on the 
reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of management made in light of its experience and its 
perception of trends, current conditions and expected developments, as well as other factors that management 
believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances at the date that such statements are made. 

Forward-looking information is inherently subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements of the Company to be materi-
ally different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking information, including but not limited to 
risks related to:

The Company’s goal of creating shareholder value by concentrating on the acquisition and development • 
 of properties that have the potential to contain economic gold deposits (See “GOAL”, below);
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Guyana Goldfields Inc. (An exploration stage entity) Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Year Ended October 31, 2009. Discussion dated January 8, 2010

Management’s assessment of future plans for the Aurora Project (See “Aurora Project” under “OUTLOOK AND • 
 OVERALL PERFORMANCE”, below and “LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES and BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, 
 below);

Management’s economic outlook regarding future trends (See “TRENDS”, below);• 

The Company’s expected exploration budget of US$70 million on the Aurora Project, and in particular, • 
 the availability of skilled labour, timing and the amount of the expected budget (See “Aurora Project” 
 under “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, below and “LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES and 
 BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, below);

The Company’s expected exploration budget of US$6 million on the Aranka Properties (as defined her • 
 in), and in particular, the availability of skilled labour, timing and the amount of the expected exploration 
 budget (See “Aranka Properties” under “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, below and “LIQUIDITY, 
 CAPITAL RESOURCES and BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, below);

The Company’s ability to meet its working capital needs at the current level in the short term. (See • 
 “OUTLOOK AND OVERALL PERFORMANCE”, below and “LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES and 
 BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, below);

Expectations with respect to raising capital (See “Aurora Project” under “OUTLOOK AND OVERALL • 
 PERFORMANCE”, below and “LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES and BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, below);

Sensitivity analysis on financial instruments may vary from amounts disclosed (See “FINANCIAL • 
 INSTRUMENTS”, below); and

Governmental regulation and environmental liability (See “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION”, below). • 

Although management of the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking information, other factors could also cause 
materially different results. There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, 
as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, 
readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. The Company does not undertake to 
update any forward-looking information, except in accordance with applicable securities laws.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Company is a Canadian-based mineral exploration and development company primarily focused on the 
acquisition, exploration and development of gold deposits in the Guiana Shield of South America. The 
Company has one material project, the Aurora Project (as defined herein) located in Guyana. The Company 
owns a 100% interest in the Aurora Project, subject to a net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) of up to 5% payable 
to, and determined at the discretion of, the Guyana Geology and Mines Commission (the “GGMC”).

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Aranka Gold Inc. (“Aranka”), the Company holds an option agreement to
acquirea 100% interest in ten mining permits comprising the Aremu mine property located on the right bank 
of the Aremu River in Guyana (collectively, the “Aranka Properties”). In order to exercise its option, Aranka is 
required to pay an aggregate of $123,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US$600,000) over a four year 
period to the optionors. The optionors of the Aranka Properties retained a 2% NSR which may be purchased 
by Aranka following the acquisition by Aranka of its full interest in such permits, by paying to the optionors 
$410,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US$2,000,000). Guyana Goldfields has not conducted any 
substantial work on this property to date.

In addition, as of January 8, 2010, the Company also holds: (i) three contiguous groups of properties totaling 
approximately 74,000 acres in the Aranka district of Guyana known as Property “A”, Property “B” and Property 
“C”; and (iii) certain marketable securities.

The Company has no revenues, so its ability to ensure continuing operations is dependent on its completing the 
acquisition of its mineral property interests, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of 
its interest in the underlying mineral claims, and its ability to obtain necessary financing to complete the exploration 
activities, development and future profitable production.
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Year Ended October 31, 2009. Discussion dated January 8, 2010

GOAL

GGI’s goal is to deliver superior returns to shareholders by concentrating on the acquisition and development 
of properties that have the potential to contain economic gold deposits. The Company plans to focus on certain 
properties, as set out below under “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”.

OUTLOOK AND OVERALL PERFORMANCE

Aurora Project

During 2009, Guyana Goldfields focused its activities on completing work required to complete the 
predevelopment phase of the Aurora Project. This work included the following:

(i) In March 2009, the Company commissioned AMEC Americas Limited (“AMEC”) of Oakville, Ontario 
to prepare Phase I and Phase II of a pre-development study which would include a NI43-101 Preliminary 
Assessment (Phase I) and a NI43-101 Definitive Feasibility Study (Phase II) (collectively, the 
“Pre-Development Study”) for the Aurora Project. Phase I of the Pre-Development Study was completed in 
August, 2009 with a positive technical report dated June 2, 2009 entitled “Aurora Gold Project, 
Guyana, South America, NI 43-101 Technical Report on Updated Preliminary Assessment” 
(the “PA NI43-101 Technical Report”). The final PA NI43-101 Technical Report is available on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Phase II of the Pre-Development Study is expected to be completed by 
the end of the third calendar quarter of 2010 with the issuance of a feasibility study which will 
(i) determine the total estimated capital cost required to build, sustain and reclaim the mine; (ii) optimize 
the mine plan based on the recommendations of the PA NI43-101 Technical Report; and (iii) incorporate 
drill results from the additional drilling planned at the Aurora Project. Based upon the PA NI43-101 
Technical Report, the Company does not have sufficient funds to bring the future mine into production.

(ii) In March 2009, Montgomery Watson Harza of Argentina was commissioned to complete a 
Technical and Economical Feasibility Study for the Cuyuni Hydroelectric Project (the 
“Hydroelectric Study”). The Hydroelectric Study will evaluate a clean-energy alternative to operating 
a future mine at the Aurora Project on heavy fuel oil generated power, potentially offering 
significant benefits from both environmental and cost perspectives. The Company is sharing 
the cost of the Hydroelectric Study equally with The International Finance Corporation (“IFC”), a member 
of the World Bank Group focused on private sector investments in developing countries, and a current 
shareholder in the Company.

(iii) A contract for an environmental and social impact assessment for the Aurora Project was awarded to 
Environmental Resources Management Inc. of Washington, D.C. to identify the risk or possible impact of 
the mine on the environment and social fabric of nearby communities.

(iv) Metallurgical work was conducted at SGS Lakefield in Ontario to identify the general characteristics and 
processing requirements of the ore for the recovery of gold at the Aurora Project.

(v) Extensive infill drilling was conducted at the main zones of the Aurora Project for the purpose of elevat-
ing the mineral resource from the inferred category to the measured, or indicated, category.

Following completion of the Pre-Development Study, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, 
will be in the position to assess whether to proceed with the development of the Aurora Project. If it is decided to 
proceed, this decision will be dependent on the ability of the Company to source the additional financing required, 
which likely will be equity. The amount and timing of these raisings may be materially impacted by the 
economic climate in the capital markets. As a result, the cost and availability of equity may be restricted. There
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to develop a mining operation at the 
Aurora Project. See “Risk Factors”.

While general economic conditions continue to improve and stability appears to be returning to financial and
commodity markets, significant uncertainty concerning the short and medium term global economic outlook
persists. Management in conjunction with the Board of Directors will continue to monitor these developments
and their effect on GGI’s business.

4



Guyana Goldfields Inc. (An exploration stage entity) Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Year Ended October 31, 2009. Discussion dated January 8, 2010

New Zone

Exploration and development activities were significantly curtailed during 2009 so all available drills (including 
mineral exploration drills) on Guyana Goldfields’ properties could be used to complete infill and geotechnical 
holes for rock and soil mechanics studies required by AMEC in connection with the Pre-Development Study. 
However, one of the geotechnical holes designed to test the Mad Kiss zone for rock mechanic study intercepted 
a significant mineralized zone at depth (RMP-04). This hole was followed up by 12 holes to delineate the bound-
aries of the new discovery (the “New Zone”).

The following description of the New Zone has been prepared and verified by Mr. Alexander Po, and is included 
herein with the consent of Mr. Po. Mr. Po is a “qualified person” within the meaning of National Instrument 
43- 101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators (“NI 43-101”).

As of January 8, 2010, thirteen (13) diamond drill holes, totaling approximately 3,333 meters have been drilled 
to delineate the shape and attitude of the New Zone, the results of which are set forth below:

Hole Grid Coordinates Grid Azimuth Dip Drill Intercept (meters)   Grade
Number Northing Easting (deg.) (deg.) From To Width*  (g/t Au)
      
MKD-39 9806.60 10386.22 89 -60 35.90 38.00 2.10  0.66
MKD-40 9806.52 10385.83 89 -70 40.00 40.65 0.65  14.90
MKD-41 9806.11 10384.64 66 -87 63.00 73.00 10.00  3.80
MKD-42 9853.10 10410.05 173 -83 25.50 28.00 2.50  0.45
MKD-43 9933.13 10431.83 170 -75 267.00 270.00 3.00  1.04
     297.00 306.00 9.00  0.42
     332.35 334.10 1.75  2.06
MKD-44W 9933.13 10431.83 170 -75 294.00 304.00 10.00  0.60
     331.00 348.00 17.00  1.66
MKD-45W 9933.13 10431.83 170 -75 282.84 310.00 27.16  4.94
    Incl. 284.00 298.00 14.00  8.60
MKD-46 9933.13 10431.83 200 -75 191.00 195.00 4.00  0.44
     213.00 215.00 2.00  0.52
     221.00 223.00 2.00  12.60
MKD-47 9901.18  10491.91  192 -80  306.00  315.00  3.00   0.78
     333.00  339.00  6.00   1.15
     364.05 364.55  0.50   1.16
     378.00  386.00  8.00   0.93
     412.00  414.00  2.00   0.54
MKD-50  9862.13  10424.17  170  -65  22.30  23.00  0.70   0.58
     117.00  119.00  2.00   0.73
     129.00  133.00  4.00   0.35
MKD-51 9884.40  10430.22  170  -65  199.60  201.00  1.40  3.94
     199.60  205.00  5.40  1.36
     217.00  219.00  2.00  0.67
MKD-52  9933.13  10431.83  180  -78  245.00  247.00  2.00  0.57
     255.00  259.00  4.00  0.38
     312.00  329.00  17.00  4.06
      (cut to 25 g/t Au)  3.638
    Incl.  323.00  329.00  6.00  10.35
      (cut to 25 g/t Au)   9.148
BH09-RKRMP- 04  9869.79 10492.63  234  -70  228.40  257.40  29.00  4.60
      (cut to 25 g/t Au) 4.561
    Incl.  250.00  257.40  7.40  14.19

*True width cannot be determined
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Guyana Goldfields Inc. (An exploration stage entity) Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
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The New Zone resembles a tabular body with an east-west strike and has a dip of -60 degrees to the north. It has 
a dimension of approximately 40 meters along strike, 250 meters along dip and thickness of 20 meters, and has 
been drill tested down to -260 m rl (relative level = sea level) (approximately 310 m depth from surface), and 
remains open at depth. The New Zone has been intersected in nine (9) holes. As well, four holes drilled to the 
east of the New Zone returned narrow Quartz-Feldspar Porphyry (“QFP”) zones possibly cut by younger diorite 
intrusive. The gold mineralization is associated with quartz-carbonate-sulfide veining and stockworks crosscut-
ting the QFP body. The high grade zone is characterized by 5-20% quartz-carbonate veining with 3-5% pyrite 
dissemination. The high grade shoot is from -150m rl to -260m rl and remains open at depth. This style of miner-
alization is similar to the main Mad Kiss gold mineralization. The QFP body appears to connect to the main Mad 
Kiss zone. The New Zone is a viable target for underground mining and if the high-grade shoot expands farther 
to the west, this may extend the current Mad Kiss pit depth by 115 meters. The mineralized zones were drilled 
in NQ size drill bits (approximately 46.7mm core size) core, sampled with an average length of 2 meters and 
assayed for Au using Fire Assay Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (FA-AAS) with a Fire Assaygravimetric finish for 
samples with greater than 3,000 parts per billion Au. Assays were completed at Acme Analytical Laboratories in 
Georgetown, Guyana.

New Acquisitions

The Company added to its land position in Guyana in fiscal 2009 through the acquisition of Aranka. The 
Company entered into an acquisition agreement with Aranka on December 19, 2008 pursuant to which the 
Company agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Aranka by way of a court 
approved plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”). The Arrangement was subsequently completed on January
28, 2009, pursuant to which former shareholders of Aranka received an aggregate of 7,796,910 Common Shares 
(representing approximately 13% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares as of such date) in exchange for 
their Aranka common shares, and the Company acquired a 100% indirect interest in all of the property interests 
held by Aranka, including the option to acquire a 100% interest in the Aremu Mining Permits.

In September and October of 2009, the Company also completed the acquisition of three contiguous groups 
of properties from arm’s length third parties totaling approximately 74,000 acres which are contiguous to the 
Company’s current holdings in the Aranka district of Guyana. The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property 
“A” (29,000 acres) by paying US$50,000 over three years, subject to a 1.5% NSR which the Company has the 
option to purchase at any time for US$1.0 million. The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property “B” 
(23,000 acres) by paying US$475,000 over five years, subject to a 2% NSR, with the Company having an option 
to purchase the NSR at any time for US$2 million. Property “C” (22,000 acres) was purchased for $42,000,000 
Guyanese dollars (approximately US $200,000). As at October 31, 2009, $20,000,000 Guyanese dollars 
(approximately US $95,000) has been paid. The remaining $22,000,000 Guyanese dollars is payable upon re-
ceipt of mining permits issued to the Company.

Other Developments

To assist in the development of the Aurora Project and oversee its expanding operations, Claude F. Lemasson, 
P.Eng., MBA was appointed as the new President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) of the Companyeffective 
February 27, 2009. Mr. Lemasson has extensive experience in mine engineering, development and operations. 
Former President Patrick Sheridan continued in his role as Chief Executive Officer and director of the Com-
pany.

The Company closed a non-brokered private placement in two tranches on June 3 and June 9, 2009, pursuant to 
which it issued 6,200,000 units at a price of $2.75 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $17,050,000. Each 
unit consisted of one Common Share and one-half of one share purchase warrant. Each whole share purchase 
warrant (a “Warrant”) is exercisable at any time to acquire one Common Share at a price of $4.00 per share for 
three years following closing. The Company has the right to call the outstanding Warrants if the closing price 
of its Common Shares exceeds $6.00 for 30 consecutive trading days after June 3, 2010. IFC, a member of the 
World Bank Group focused on private sector investments in developing countries, and a current shareholder in 
the Company, purchased 1,818,181 units of the private placement for proceeds of $5,000,000. See “Liquidity, 
Capital Resources and Business Prospects”, below.
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At October 31, 2009, the Company had mineral exploration properties valued at $55,972,018 compared to 
$40,471,187 at October 31, 2008. The reasons for the increase in the value of mineral exploration properties 
are: (i) the Company spent $14,022,033 on exploration and development activities on its mineral exploration 
properties during the year ended October 31, 2009, and (ii) the Company acquired the remaining 50% inter-
est in the Aranka Properties as a result of its acquisition of Aranka on January 28, 2009. Total Aranka resource 
a sets acquired by the Company from its acquisition amounted to $1,532,335. See “Aranka Properties” under 
“MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, below.

At October 31, 2009, the Company had working capital of $22,167,311 compared to $14,480,696 as at Oc-
tober 31, 2008. The Company had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $23,398,091 as at 
October 31, 2009, compared to $15,980,908 as at October 31, 2008, an increase of about 46%. The increase in 
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments during the year ended October 31, 2009, is primarily due 
to the completion of a non-brokered private placement and the acquisition of Aranka. Cash and cash equiva-
lents and short-term investments acquired from the private placement, net of costs, amounted to $16,846,609 
and funds from the Aranka acquisition, net of costs, amounted to $5,796,757. The increase was offset by cash 
expenditures on the Company’s mineral properties of $14,022,033, and operating expenses.

On the Peters Mine Property and the Langis Mine, no material exploration work took place during the year 
ended October 31, 2009. At the date of this MD&A, both properties were under care and maintenance, which 
the Company believes will have no effect on its current and future operations. See “MINERAL EXPLORATION 
PROPERTIES”, below.

TRENDS

The Company is a Canadian-based mineral exploration company primarily focused on the acquisition, 
exploration and development of gold deposits in the Guiana Shield of South America. The Company attempts 
to acquire properties in Guyana, should such acquisitions be consistent with the objectives and acquisition 
criteria of the Company. The Company anticipates that it will continue to experience net losses as a result of 
ongoing exploration and development expenditures, costs involved in preparing the Pre-Development Study 
and permitting stage costs in Guyana and operating costs until such time, if any, as revenue generating activ-
ity is commenced. The Company’s future financial success will be dependent upon the extent to which it can 
make discoveries and on the economic viability of any such discoveries. The development of such assets may 
take years to complete and the resulting income, if any, is difficult to determine with any certainty. In addition, 
both the price of, and the market for, gold is volatile, difficult to predict and subject to changes in domestic 
and international political, social and economic environments. However, significantly large gold equity raisings 
have occurred within the recent past for both producing and development stage companies. There can be no 
assurance that the demand for precious metal equity offerings will continue, and therefore the Company may 
not be able to raise sufficient funds to develop a mining operation at the Aurora Project or to further explore or 
develop any of its other property interests.

Although economic conditions in Canada have improved since the beginning of the year, the Company remains 
cautious in case the economic factors that impact the mining industry deteriorate. The Company’s future per-
formance is largely tied to the development of its current mineral property interests and the overall financial 
markets. Current financial markets are likely to be volatile in Canada for the remainder of the calendar year and 
into 2010, reflecting ongoing concerns about the global economy. With continued market volatility expected, 
the Company’s current strategy is to continue to develop the Aurora Project and explore the Aranka Properties. 
The Company believes this focused strategy will enable it to meet the near-term challenges presented by the 
capital markets while maintaining momentum on key initiatives. These trends may limit the Company’s ability 
to develop and/or further explore the Aurora Project and Aranka Properties or to further explore or develop any 
of its other property interests. Management regularly monitors economic conditions and estimates their impact 
on the Company’s operations and incorporates these estimates in short term operating and longer term strategic 
decisions.

Apart from these and the risk factors noted under the heading “RISK FACTORS” below, management is not aware 
of any other trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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CONTINGENCIES

(a) The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and regulations 
relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing and 
generally becoming more restrictive. As at October 31, 2009, the Company does not believe that there are any 
significant environmental obligations requiring material capital outlays in the immediate future and anticipates 
that such obligations will only arise when mine development commences.

(b) In July 2009, a former employee of GGI commenced an action against GGI seeking wrongful dismissal 
damages of $200,000 resulting from the termination of employment. The Company is contesting the claim. Ac-
cordingly, the October 31, 2009 audited consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that 
might be required in the final outcome of this litigation.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this filing, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are 
reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the 
Company, including, and without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources.

SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is selected financial data derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company as at October 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and for the years ended October 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 Year ended  Year ended  Year ended
 Oct.31, 2009  Oct.31, 2008 Oct. 31, 2007 

Net (loss) income $(6,686,821)  $(12,498,363) $1,060,338
Net (loss) income per share (basic and diluted) $(0.11)  $(0.24)  $0.02

 As at As at As at
 Oct.31, 2009  Oct.31, 2008 Oct. 31, 2007

Mineral exploration properties $55,972,018 $40,471,187 $34,366,617
Total assets $80,530,232 $57,618,756 $69,613,826
Current liablilities $1,970,629  $2,179,476  $2,789,616

• The net loss for the year ended October 31, 2009 consisted primarily of (i) stock-based compensation 
of $2,562,871; (ii) office expense of $1,091,376; (iii) loss on foreign exchange of $428,293; (iv) GGI’s 
share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (formerly Coronation Minerals Inc.) 
(“Guyana Precious”) of $1,328,330; (v) professional fees of $514,472; and (vi) other working capital expen-
ditures incurred to maintain the operations of the Company. These amounts were offset by (i) interest income 
of $211,080; and (ii) an unrealized gain on short-term investments of $127,830.

• The net loss for the year ended October 31, 2008 consisted primarily of (i) stock-based compensation 
of $2,329,533; (ii) the write-off of mineral exploration properties of $3,136,990; (iii) an unrealized loss on 
short-term investments of $4,748,570; (iv) GGI’s share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious 
of $763,957; (v) the write-down of the equity investment in Guyana Precious of $3,354,633; and (vi) other 
working capital expenditures incurred to maintain the operations of the Company. These amounts were 
offset by (i) interest income of $747,414; (ii) a gain on sale of short-term investments of $693,772; and (iii) 
a gain on foreign exchange of $1,187,266.

• The net income for the year ended October 31, 2007 consisted primarily of (i) interest income of 
$1,304,411; (ii) an unrealized gain on short-term investments of $2,416,999; and (iii) a gain on sale of short-
term investments of $2,326,699. These amounts were offset by (i) a loss on foreign exchange of $774,467; 
(ii) stock-based compensation of $2,810,014; and (iii) other working capital expenditures incurred to main-
tain the operations of the Company.
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• As the Company presently has no revenue, the Company’s ability to fund its operations is dependent
upon its ability to secure financing through equity or the sale of assets. The value of any resource
property asset is dependent upon the existence of economically recoverable mineral reserves, the ability
to obtain the necessary financing to complete exploration and development, and the future profitable
production or proceeds from disposition of such properties. See “TRENDS”, above and “RISK
FACTORS”, below.

MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES
None of GGI’s properties are in production. The principal assets of the Company consist of (i) the Aurora Project; 
(ii) the Aranka Properties; (iii) the property known as the Peters Mine Property; and (iv) the Langis Mine, all as 
further described below. The Company has divested its remaining 50% interest in the Coppermine River Prop-
erty as further described below.

(i) Aurora Project

Ownership Interest

The Company holds a 100% interest in its material project, the Aurora Project, subject to a NSR of up to 5% pay-
able to, and determined at the discretion of, the GGMC. The Company has held its interest in the Aurora Project 
since 1998 and is required to pay an annual fee to the vendor of US$100,000 for as long as Guyana Goldfields 
maintains an interest in the Aurora Project, up to a maximum of US$1,500,000.

See “IFC REQUIREMENT”, below for details regarding the Aurora Project prospecting licence.

Summary of activities

A budget of $10,714,000 was allocated to the Aurora Project for calendar 2009. This budget includes all 
expected Aurora Project operating costs as well as the Pre-Development Study and permitting stage costs. Net 
expenditures incurred at the Aurora Project in the amount of $12,982,438 for the year ended October 31, 2009, include:

Aurora Project Update

Exploration and development expenditures at the Aurora Project include exploration drilling after completion 
of a computer model of Aurora’s mineralized zone. This 3D model was used in reviewing and refining the inter-
pretation of the drilling results. New drill targets were identified for inclusion in the infill-drilling program of the 
Rory’s Knoll mineralized zone. The purpose of the infill drilling program at the Rory’s Knoll mineralized zone 
was to facilitate close space drill hole points that will elevate the mineral resource from the inferred category to 
the measured category or at least to the indicated category.

Follow-up exploratory drilling outside the Rory’s Knoll zone was conducted in investigating the grounds in be-
tween the North Aleck Hill, Mad Kiss, South Mad Kiss and West Mad Kiss zones that were not covered by an 
earlier drilling program. There were isolated drill intercepts showing mineralization that were discovered, some 
of which merit follow up work.

GGI engaged SRK Consulting (Canada) Inc. (“SRK”) to conduct an independent second opinion mineral 
resource estimate of the Golden Square Mile target area. Adjustments and revisions of the “Solid and Wire frame 
Modeling” of the defined mineralized intercepts were completed in accordance with SRK’s interpretation of 
the deposit. Solid and Wire frame Modeling is a modeling technique to determine the deposit shape and size 
based on drilling/mapping data. It is only after the modeling is complete that the computation for volume (later 
converted to tonnage) is possible. GGI’s field geological team in Guyana applied SRK’s methods and techniques 
to obtain a second opinion on the mineral resource estimate from SRK. SRK’s mineral resource estimate was very 
similar to the mineral resource estimate of Micon International Co. Limited (“Micon”). The results independently 
arrived at by Micon and SRK bolster GGI’s confidence level in the resource estimate for the Aurora Project.

In the first quarter of 2009, the Company also conducted surface exploration, which included surface auger hole 
sampling and reconnaissance field mapping in the far south area of the Aurora Project. The objective of these 
activities was to test for gold mineralization in certain areas that could become potential drill targets. The results 
failed to identify any significant showings that would warrant follow-up work.
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The exploration activities were curtailed when AMEC was engaged to do the Pre-Development Study for the 
Aurora Project. AMEC commenced their work by April, 2009. All available drills on site (including mineral ex-
ploration drills) were pre-empted by May, 2009 to conduct and complete required geotechnical holes for rock 
and soil mechanics study prior to the onset of the rainy season.

This was then followed by condemnation drilling of areas that were proposed to be sites of infrastructure such 
as tailing ponds, mill, camps, water management impoundment site, etc.

The resource estimate data was reviewed by AMEC geologists resulting in re-interpretation and modification of 
the solid wire frame models. This new resource valuation became the basis of AMEC’s study to come up with 
their PA NI43-101 Technical Report. The PA NI43-101 Technical Report was posted on SEDAR on October 6, 
2009.

Based on the PA NI43-101 Technical Report, AMEC recommended that more in-fill drilling be done to enable 
the increase of “indicated” resources by drilling areas inside the solid model interpreted as being “inferred”. 
This recommendation was adopted and further drilling was dedicated to the in-fill program. This new drill-
ing program is geared to be included in the second phase of the AMEC’s study which will conclude with the 
Pre-Development Study.

A side benefit from the geotechnical hole was achieved when a “blind deposit” was intersected at depth in the 
vicinity of the Mad Kiss zone. This was followed up with thirteen holes to delineate deposit nine of which hit the 
main body and four hit the outliers. The delineation drilling was temporarily put on hold until the completion 
of AMEC’s in-fill drilling program.

The Company is currently conducting infill drilling as recommended by AMEC. The program is designed to 
increase the confidence of the resource estimates. There are currently seven drill rigs operating at the Aurora 
Project. A comprehensive review of the infill drilling program will take place in late January 2010.

By the end of November 30, 2009, there was 40,468.30m drilled over 214 geological drill holes distributed in 
different zones. The holes were distributed to the following zones: Aleck Hill - 48 holes (10,186.50m); Sapro-
lite - 25 holes (1,622.30m); Rory’s Knoll - 20 holes (7,165.00m); North Aleck Hill - 26 holes (4,495.00m); East 
Walcott Hill - 8 holes (1,385m); Walcott Hill - 19 holes (2,682 m); Mad Kiss - 28 holes (6,088.50m); South Mad 
Kiss - 12 holes (1,951.00m); West Mad Kiss - 5 holes (704.0 m); Swamp Vein - 8 holes (1,345m); Metallurgical 
drill holes - 2 holes (159m); Condemnation Holes – 13 holes (2,685.0m).

Satellite photo-imagery was completed and is now being used in site planning. This is planned to be augmented 
by a LIDAR airborne survey to enhance the topography survey control over a wide area including the Golden 
Square Mile, proposed Hydropower sites at the Julian Ross Itabu and Devil’s hole areas.

Metallurgical testing and characterization of resource material was initiated with the shipment of 200 kg of re 
resentative samples consisting of drill core rejects to SGS Canada Inc. The material was subjected to a series of 
testing including gravity separation and cyanidation extraction; grinding test work; mineral evaluation and cya-
nide destruction on final tailing. An additional 65 kg was dispatched consisting of solid quarter core samples for 
grind ability tests to determine work indices that will be the basis for sizing mill plant equipment. Preliminary 
results are indicating 50% gravity gold recovery and approximately 95% total gold mill recovery combined 
gravity and cyanidation.

The Company expects exploration activities on the Aurora Project will resume after all the requirements for 
AMEC’s Pre-Development Study is completed.
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Timing of Specific Activities

GGI awarded the Pre-Development Study to AMEC. The study will be completed in two phases: phase • 
 I, which runs from March to August 2009, concluded with a PA NI43-101 Technical Report, and phase 
 II, which started in September 2009 is expected to end in the third quarter 2010, will conclude with the 
 issue of NI43-101 Definitive Feasibility Study of the Canadian Securities Administrators. The estimated 
 cost for the Pre-Development Study is $4,000,000. As of early December 2009, the first phase was 
 completed and a PA NI43-101 report was issued on schedule and as planned, with the second phase 
 underway.

 GGI has engaged MWH Argentina SA (“MWH”) to conduct the technical and economical feasibility • 
 study for the Cuyuni Hydroelectric Project. The study will evaluate a clean-energy alternative to operating 
 the future mine on diesel or heavy fuel oil generated power, offering significant benefits from both 
 environmental and cost perspectives. GGI has requested the IFC to assist GGI in the financing of the 
 technical and economical feasibility study by providing a grant in the amount of $292,654 (US$270,500) 
 (50% of the funds required, estimated total $585,308 (US$541,000)). The IFC has given notice to GGI 
 that the grant has been approved as of February 25, 2009. The topographical survey of the proposed site 
 was conducted from September to December 2009. The study is expected to be completed in the 
 second quarter of 2010. As of the date of this MD&A, the IFC has not provided the grant to GGI.

A contract for an environmental and social impact assessment at a cost of $557,179 (US$515,000) has • 
 been awarded to Environmental Resources Management Inc. (“ERM”). The study will include public 
 hearings and other work that will be required for the necessary environmental authorizations and permitting 
 The study is to identify the risk or possible impact of a mine on the environment and social fabric of 
 nearby communities. If the study outcome shows that a negative impact (i.e. pollution/environmental 
 degradation/social displacements, etc.) is minimal or can be alleviated by mitigating programs, then 
 the Aurora Project may be given a permit to build and operate a mine, subject to applicable regulatory 
 requirements. In April 2009, ERM submitted the Guyana Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 
 Application for Environmental Authorization in the Co-operative Republic of Guyana. In late April 
 2009, the EPA conducted an agency meeting in Georgetown with representatives of various governmental 
 agencies represented as well as a public consultation session in Bartica. Mr. Lemasson, accompanied 
 by GGI staff, ERM consultants as well as IFC staff, presented the project. Various comments were received 
 and these will be addressed in the future through the permitting process. In June 2009, a Preliminary 
 Environmental Impact Assessment was submitted to the Guyanese EPA, including high-level plans for 
 the development of the mine. The final environmental and social impact assessment is scheduled to be 
 submitted to Guyanese regulators in the first quarter of 2010.

In January 2009, metallurgical work began and continued into the fourth quarter of 2009. Metallurgical • 
 work is used to identify the general characteristics and processing requirements of the ore for the recovery 
 of gold at the Aurora Project. The test work is being completed by SGS Canada Inc.

 Airbourne Solutions International LLC. Inc. will perform a topographic aerial survey of the Aurora Project • 
 to provide a proper and accurate survey (actual elevations) of the overall site for future design and development 
 at an estimated cost of $258,574 (US$239,000). This work is expected to be completed in the first quarter 
 of 2010.

Jenike & Johanson Limited will perform flow property testing which is part of the overall metallurgical • 
 testing program, as a specialty testing item. This is estimated to cost $26,000. This work is expected to 
 be completed in the first quarter of 2010.

Golder PasteTec was engaged to test pastefill and do feasibility study work on a pastefill plant and distribution • 
 system. Pastefill is tailings mixed with cement that is used as fill in underground mining. This is estimated 
 to cost $337,000. This work is expected to be completed in the first and second quarters of 2010.
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Budgeted Expenditures for 2009

The following table sets forth a breakdown of material components of exploration and development 
expenditures incurred at the Aurora Project during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009 (See “Aurora Project” 
under OUTLOOK AND OVERALL PERFORMANCE”, above).

Exploration and development expenditures Year ended October 31, 2009

Consultants 5,055,796
Drilling costs and supplies  4,431,307
Assaying  260,388
Expediting costs  1,776,305
Management fees  272,680
Land acquisition  119,650
Field equipment and supplies  523,473
General exploration  542,839
Total  12,982,438

Table - Expected Aurora Project Expenditures

The following are the plans related to the Aurora Project for calendar 2010 and a comparison of planned and 
actual expenditures on such property in calendar 2009.

      Timing for
 Project/ Plans for Planned Expenditures  Remaining Completion
Property Project Expenditures to Oct. 31,  Commitment of Planned
Name   2009  Activities

 Calendar 2009  $10,714,000 (1)  $12,982,438 (2)  $nil Completed
 Pre-Development
Aurora Study and
Project (1) permitting
 stage costs

 Calendar 2010 (3) US $70 million (1)  N/A US  $70 million (1)  2010

Discretionary expense, subject to change if management decides to scale back operations or accelerate (1) 
 exploration.

The increase of $2,268,438 over planned expenditures is directly related to increased drilling at the (2) 
 Aurora Project to provide better infill information for the Pre-Development Study.

Fiscal 2010 planned costs include on-going drilling and assaying; employee and consultant salaries; (3) 
 construction management services; survey costs; hydropower feasibility study costs; Pre-Development 
 Study costs; other study costs; mobile equipment; Buckhall Port facilities; access road costs, new camp cookery 
 and guardhouse; airstrip; river dyke; site roads and civil works; water management pond; power plant and fuel 
 storage and ancillary buildings.

(ii) Aranka Properties

The following transactions took place during the year ended October 31, 2009:
(a) On January 28, 2009, GGI completed the acquisition of Aranka pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement (the

“Arrangement”) completed under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario). Through the Arrangement, the Company 
acquired the remaining 50% interest in the Aranka Properties. GGI now has a total interest of 100% in the 
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Aranka Properties. The Aranka Properties acquired by the Company through the Arrangement have an ascribed 
value of $1,532,335.

Pursuant to the Arrangement, the former shareholders of Aranka received an aggregate of 7,796,910 Common 
Shares of GGI in exchange for their Aranka common shares at an exchange basis of one Common Share of GGI 
for every 3.25 common shares of Aranka. In addition, all of the outstanding 1,700,000 stock options of Aranka 
were cancelled and the stock option plan was terminated. The Common Shares of GGI acquired by the former 
shareholders of Aranka had a deemed value of $0.94 per share.

This acquisition has been treated as a business combination using the purchase method of accounting. Under 
this method, Aranka’s earnings are included in the consolidated Company’s earnings from the date of acquisition. 
Details of the acquisition are summarized below:

Purchase price

7,796,910 Common Shares issued in exchange for

25,343,556 Aranka common shares outstanding  $ 7,329,095

Transaction costs  316,209

  $ 7,645,304

Fair value of net assets acquired

Current assets (including cash of $5,796,757)  $ 6,164,498

Aranka Property  1,532,335

Langis Mine   1

  7,696,834

Less: current liabilities  (51,530)

  $ 7,645,304

The carrying value of the assets acquired exceeded the purchase price consideration by $639,369, which was 
applied to decrease the carrying value of the Aranka Properties. The decrease will not affect the value of the 
underlying assets for tax purposes, resulting in a temporary difference between accounting and tax values. The 
resulting future tax asset has not been recorded, as it is not more likely than not that it will be realized.

(b) On October 20, 2009, the Company acquired three contiguous groups of properties located in Guyana, 
South America:

Property “A” (29,000 acres)

The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property “A” by paying $54,000 (US $50,000) over three years to an 
unrelated third party. Property “A” is located in Guyana, South America. The vendor maintains a 1.5% NSR and 
the Company has the option to purchase the NSR at any time for $1,081,900 (US $1,000,000).

Property “B” (23,000 acres)

The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property “B” by paying $514,000 (US $475,000) over five years to an 
unrelated third party. Property “B” is located in Guyana, South America. The vendor shall maintain a 2% NSR, 
with the Company having an option to purchase the NSR at any time for $2,164,000 (US $2,000,000).

Property “C” (22,000 acres)

Property “C” was purchased for $42,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $200,000) from an unre-
lated third party. As at October 31, 2009, $20,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $95,000) has been 
paid. The remaining $22,000,000 Guyanese dollars is payable upon receipt of mining permits issued to the 
Company. Property “C” is located in Guyana, South America.
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Exploration activities

A budget of $2,057,000 was allocated to the Aranka Properties for calendar 2009. The Aranka district exploration 
campaign has been running for about three years and consists of airborne geophysical surveys, the collection of 
high resolution satellite imagery, extensive stream sediment and soil sampling surveys and limited hand trench-
ing and diamond drilling. Current land holdings in the district approximate 274,975 acres (approx 111,276 
ha). The Aranka exploration campaign is running concurrently with the Aurora Project exploration and devel-
opment program. For the year ended October 31, 2009, exploration and development expenditures incurred 
at the Aranka Properties in the amount of $1,039,597 include low cost regional reconnaissance fieldwork 
covering the northwest part of the Aranka holdings tenured under prospecting licenses issued by the GGMC to 
Aranka. Stream silt sediment and soil sampling, geological mapping and rock sampling continue to be the major 
activities in Quarter 1 (2009) to Quarter 4 (2009). The Company’s exploration program has been hampered 
by logistical problems due to a lack of infrastructure. Considerable effort has been spent on mobilization, 
scouting for campsites (both base camp and fly camps), and trailblazing and sustaining support services to mobile 
exploration teams as work progresses deeper into the Aranka holdings.

To assist in the exploration work, a consulting company was engaged to re-interpret the airborne geophysics 
conducted in 2006. The work involves the use of the consulting company’s technique in interpreting the elec-
tromagnetic data, which was not considered earlier. This reinterpretation integrated new field geological and 
chemical data generated by the Company’s fieldwork .This re-interpretation confirmed earlier identified areas 
and identified new targets for follow up work.

Results of a regional reconnaissance survey have identified three target areas for detailed follow-up work and 
were acquired through negotiations with small scale operators. Property “A”, Property “B” and Property “C”, are 
contiguous parcels of land with an aggregate of approximately 74,000 acres. All three properties have a history 
of gold production from its previous local owners.

As of December 10, 2009, Property “C” is undergoing exploratory (not delineation) diamond drilling (1,548m 
over six holes) and trenching to test the ground. Core assays are in the process of being received by the Company 
as of the date of this MD&A.

The newly acquired properties will be the focus of a follow-up exploration work that is expected to consist of 
geological mapping, grid auger drilling, mechanical trenching and diamond drilling. Additional geologists will 
be assigned to the project together with more technical resources.

Regional type reconnaissance work will also continue on the Aranka Properties.

Budgeted Expenditures for 2009
The following table sets forth a breakdown of material components of exploration and development 
expenditures incurred at the Aranka Properties during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009.

Exploration and development expenditures Year endedOctober 31,2009 $

Acquisition of Aranka  1,532,335

Expediting, option payments and reconnaissance costs  1,039,597

Total   2,571,932

Table – Expected Aranka Expenditures

The following are the plans related to the Aranka Properties for calendar 2010 as well as a comparison of 
planned and actual expenditures on such properties during fiscal 2009.
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      Timing for
   Project/ Plans for Planned Expenditures  Remaining Completion
  Property Project Expenditures to Oct. 31,  Commitment of Planned
   Name   2009  Activities

 Calendar 2009  $2,057,000 (1) (2)  $1,039,597  $nil (3) Completed
 Aranka Grass roots
 Properties exploration, drilling,
 (1) (2) sampling, trenching,
 geochemical work

 Calendar 2010) US $6 million (2)  N/A  $6 million (2)  2010
    Grass roots

 exploration, drilling,
 sampling, trenching
 geochemical work

Current land holdings in the district approximate 274,975 acres (approx 111,276 ha). Also included are (1) 
 several prospecting licences issued to Guyana Goldfields by the GGMC that require work performance 
 bonds to be posted. As of October 31, 2009, $113,740 (US$105,130) in work performance bonds was 
 posted and is included in restricted cash;

Discretionary expense, subject to change if management decides to scale back operations or accelerate (1) 
 exploration; and

Guyana Goldfields did not incur the full amount due to the Company’s concentration on the Aurora (1) 
 Project during fiscal 2009

(iii) Peters Mine Property

The Company also holds a 100% interest in the mineral exploration rights to the property known as the Peters 
Mine Property, subject to an NSR of up to 5% determined at the discretion of the GGMC. The Peters Mine 
Property is currently under care and maintenance and as a result, has an ascribed value of $1.

(iv) Langis Mine

On January 28, 2009, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Langis Mine as a result of its acquisition of 
Aranka. Total Langis Mine assets acquired by the Company during the period have an ascribed value of $1.See 
“Aranka Properties “ under “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, above.

The Company owns a 100% interest in mineral rights to 25 claim units covering 960.90 acres (about 390  
ectares), and 326.99 acres (about 130 hectares) of surface rights in Casey and Harris Townships, Larder Lake 
Mining Division, Ontario. Eighteen of the claim units are contiguous and host the past-producing Langis Mine. 
To date, the Langis Mine is under care and maintenance.

(v) Coppermine River Property

On June 26, 2008, the Company and Guyana Precious announced that Guyana Precious and Coppercorp Inc. 
(“CCI”), a subsidiary of the Company, had entered into an agreement (the “Coppermine Agreement”) pursuant 
to which Guyana Precious was granted the right to acquire CCI’s 50% remaining interest in the property known 
as the Coppermine River Project, which property consists of 75,747.69 acres (30,654 hectares) located in the 
Coronation Gulf region of Nunavut, Canada. Guyana Precious had previously acquired an initial 50% inter-
est in the Coppermine River Project pursuant to an agreement entered into between the parties in June 2002. 
In order to acquire CCI’s residual 50% interest in the property under the Coppermine Agreement, Guyana 
Precious was required to issue 5,000,000 common shares (valued at $1,250,000) to CCI, which share issuance was 
completed on November 6, 2008. Pursuant to the terms of the Coppermine Agreement, CCI retains a 1.5% 
NSR in the unpatented claims comprising, in part, the Coppermine River Project, and a right of first refusal to 
participate in future financings of Guyana Precious.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

All phases of Guyana Goldfields. operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions 

in which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality 
standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and 
disposal of solid and hazardous waste.

In particular, Guyana Goldfields is subject to the “Guyana Environmental Protection Act No. 11 of 1996” of 
the Co-operative Republic of Guyana (the “Guyana Act”) which provides for the management, conservation, 
protection and improvement of the environment, the prevention/control of pollution, the assessment of the 
impact of economic development on the environment and the sustainable use of natural resources and the 
matters incidental thereto or connected therewith. This legislation also mandates the creation of the Guyana EPA 
to implement compliance with the Guyana Act.

The Guyana Act establishes a wide range of sanctions and penalties, both criminal and civil, for violations of the 
provisions of the Guyana Act. These sanctions and penalties include, but are not limited to:

varying monetary fines or imprisonment depending on the gravity of the offence (if the offender has • 
 been convicted of an offence under the Guyana Act and has benefited monetarily from the violation, a 
 court may order a fine in an amount equal to the court’s estimation of the amount of monetary benefits 
 not withstanding the maximum fine that may be imposed. To expedite settlement, authorised officers 
 of the EPA may by notice offer the option of discharging liabilities in consideration of the offender making 
 immediate payment to the EPA equal to two-thirds of the minimum penalty prescribed within 28 days 
 of the date of the notice sent by the officer);

suspension, cancellation, or revocation of a permit or authorisation;• 

order to cease (or make no changes to) construction, operation, or other activities;• 

prohibition notices (similar to an injunction);• 

enforcement notices;• 

mandating actions to prevent, ameliorate, correct, mitigate, restore, or otherwise address environmental • 
 harm within a specified time;

community service;• 

order compensation to aggrieved persons; and• 

injunctions (upon application to High Court).• 

To date, applicable environmental legislation has had no material financial or operational effects upon the op-
erations of Guyana Goldfields. See also “Risk Factors - Environmental Risks and Hazards”, below.

TECHNICAL DISCLOSURE

Mr. Alexander Po, P.Geo, a director of the Company, is a Qualified Person as defined under NI 43-101. Mr. Po 
has reviewed and verified the information under the heading “Aurora Project Update” and “Timing of Specific 
Activities” under “Aurora Project” under section “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, above and “Explora-
tion Activities” under “Aranka Properties” under section “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES”, above.

MILESTONES

Milestones in the current year include:

The appointment of Mr. Lemasson as the Company’s new President and COO; and• 

The completion of a positive PA NI 43-101 Technical Report for the Aurora Project by AMEC.• 
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OVERALL OBJECTIVE

The objective of the Company is to develop the Aurora Project, further explore and expand its geological 

knowledge related to the Aranka Properties and to pursue the development of mineralization, if discovered, that 
is economically significant. The Company proposes to also continue to evaluate the acquisition of other high 
quality exploration properties in order to augment and strengthen its current mineral property portfolio.

To date, factors indicating that GGI may meet its objective include:

GGI is a Canadian-based junior gold company with solid management;• 

The country of Guyana is mining friendly;• 

The involvement of IFC, part of the World Bank Group;• 

Active regional exploration with upside potential; and• 

Completion of a positive PA NI 43-101 Technical Report.• 

The Company may also seek to acquire additional mineral resource properties. The Company notes that 
although the development of the Aurora Project is positive, mineral exploration in general is uncertain. As a 
result, the Company believes that by acquiring additional mineral properties, it is able to better minimize overall 
exploration risk. In conducting its search for additional mineral properties, the Company may consider acquiring 
properties that it considers prospective based on criteria such as the exploration history of the properties, the 
location of the properties, or a combination of these and other factors. Risk factors to be considered in 
connection with the Company’s search for and acquisition of additional mineral properties include the 
significant expenses required to locate and establish mineral reserves; the fact that expenditures made by 
the Company may not result in discoveries of commercial quantities of minerals; environmental risks; risks 
associated with land title; the competition faced by the Company; and the potential failure of the Company to 
generate adequate funding for any such acquisitions. See “RISK FACTORS”, below.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The Company is an exploration stage entity engaged in the acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development 
of principally gold resource properties in Guyana. At this time, any issues of seasonality or commodity market 
fluctuations have no direct impact on the Company’s results or operations. The Company currently defers its 
exploration expenditures to mineral exploration properties. A summary of selected information for each of the 
eight most recent quarters is as follows:

Three Months Ended (*) Net (loss) income Basic and diluted
   (loss) income per share

October 31, 2009  ($3,505,124) (1)  ($0.06)

July 31, 2009   ($1,182,156) (2)  ($0.02)

April 30, 2009  ($1,774,851) (3)  ($0.03)

January 31, 2009  ($224,690) (4)  ($0.00)

October 31, 2008  ($8,639,495) (5)  ($0.17)

July 31, 2008   $937,196 (6)  $0.02

April 30, 2008  ($1,099,378) (7)  ($0.02)

January 31, 2008  ($3,696,686) (8)  ($0.07)

(*) GGI did not have any (loss) income before discontinued operations or extraordinary items for each period presented.

Notes:
Net loss of $3,505,124 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $1,444,908; (ii) GGI’s share of loss 
from its equity investment in Guyana Precious of $643,790; and (iii) an unrealized loss of $117,417 on short-
term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on October 31, 2009. All other expenses related 
to general working capital purposes.
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Net loss of $1,182,156 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $300,433; (ii) a foreign  (2) 
 exchange loss of $391,530; offset by (iii) an unrealized gain of $111,812 on short-term investments   
 resulting from a mark to market adjustment on July 31, 2009. All other expenses related to general   
 working capital purposes.

Net loss of $1,774,851 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $539,112; (ii) GGI’s share (3) 
 of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious of $634,007; (iii) an unrealized loss of $60,245 
 on short-term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on April 30, 2009; (iv) a foreign 
 exchange loss of $90,964; offset by (v) interest income of $63,110. All other expenses related to general 
 working capital purposes.

Net loss of $224,690 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $278,418; (ii) an unrealized (4) 
 gain of $193,680 on short-term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on January 31, 
 2009; (iii) GGI’s share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious of $50,533; and (iv) a foreign 
 exchange gain of $46,368. All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.

Net loss of $8,639,495 principally relates to (i) an unrealized loss of $2,693,308 on short-term investments  (5) 
 resulting from a mark to market adjustment on October 31, 2008; (ii) a write-off of mineral properties of 
 $3,136,990; (iii) GGI’s share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious of $763,957; (iv) the 
 write-down of the equity investment in Guyana Precious of $3,354,633; and (v) a foreign exchange gain of 
 $843,971. All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.

Net income of $937,196 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $625,208; and (ii) an (6) 
 unrealized gain of $1,596,804 on short-term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on July 
 31, 2008. All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.

Net loss of $1,099,378 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $1,679,803; and (ii) an (7) 
 unrealized gain of $591,730 on short-term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on April 
 30, 2008. All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.

Net loss of $3,696,686 principally relates to (i) stock-based compensation of $311,055; (ii) an unrealized (8) 
 loss of $4,243,796 on short-term investments resulting from a mark to market adjustment on January 31, 
 2008; and (iii) a gain on sale of short-term investments of $693,772. All other expenses related to general 
 working capital purposes.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended October 31, 2009, compared with year ended October 31, 2008

The Company’s net loss totaled $6,686,821 for the year ended October 31, 2009, with basic and diluted loss 
per share of $0.11. This compares with a net loss of $12,498,363 with basic and diluted loss per share of $0.24 
for the year ended October 31, 2008. The decrease of $5,811,542 in net loss was principally due to:

Stock-based compensation expense during the year ended October 31, 2009, was $2,562,871 (year • 
 ended October 31, 2008 – $2,329,533), an increase of $233,338 compared to the same period in 
 2008. During the year ended October 31, 2009, the Company issued 3,270,000 options compared with  
 565,000 in the comparative period. Stock-based compensation expense varies due to the vesting terms 
 of options. The options issued vested in accordance with the stock option plan. Users of the financial 
 statements should be cautious of the valuation of stock-based compensation since its calculation is 
 subjective and can impact net loss significantly.

Foreign exchange loss for the year ended October 31, 2009, increased by $1,615,559, compared with • 
 the same period in 2008. The increase can be attributed to increased transactions in Guyana and US 
 dollar exchange rate fluctuations.

Professional fees for the year ended October 31, 2009, were $514,472 (year ended October 31, 2008 – • 
 $341,121), an increase of $173,351 compared to the same period in 2008. This increase can be 
 attributed to increased corporate activity.

Management and consulting fees for the year ended October 31, 2009, were $527,928 (year ended • 
 October 31, 2008 - $177,720), an increase of $350,208 compared to the same period in 2008. This 
 increase is attributable to salary paid to the new President and COO, Claude Lemasson, who was 
 appointed during the first quarter of 2009 and bonuses paid or accrued during the year.
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Gain on sale of short-term investments for the year ended October 31, 2009, was $nil (year ended • 
 October 31, 2008 – $693,772), a decrease of $693,772 compared to the same period in 2008. The 
 decrease is attributable to the sale of short-term investments during the year ended October 31, 2008, 
 compared to nil in the current period.

Interest income for the year ended October 31, 2009, was $211,080 (year ended October 31, 2008 – • 
 $747,414), a decrease of $536,334 compared to the same period in 2008. The decrease is attributable 
 to the Company utilizing cash reserves for working capital requirements instead of investing funds in 
 short-term deposits that generate interest income. This was compounded by reduction in interest rates 
 on short-term investments.

Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments for the year ended October 31, 2009, was $127,830 • 
 (year ended October 31, 2008 – ($4,748,570)), an increase of $4,876,400 compared to the same period 
 in 2008. The unrealized gain on investments in short-term investments arose from adjustments to fair 
 value in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, and resulted from an overall increase in the 
 market value of the Company’s junior resource company portfolio.

GGI’s share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious for the year ended October 31, 2009, • 
 was $1,328,330 (year ended October 31, 2008 - $763,957), an increase of $564,373 in loss compared 
 to the same period in 2008. Management has recognized GGI’s share of Guyana Precious’s loss using 
 the equity method. GGI’s interest in Guyana Precious increased from 11.61% to 16.41% during the 
 period as a result of Guyana Precious issuing 5,000,000 common shares (valued at $1,250,000) to CCI, 
 a subsidiary of GGI, on November 6, 2008. See “Coppermine River Property” under “MINERAL 
 EXPLORATION PROPERTIES” above.

Mineral exploration properties royalties for the year ended October 31, 2009 was $nil (year ended • 
 October 31, 2008 - a recovery of $325,000). The change for the year ended October 31, 2009 was a 
 decrease of $325,000 compared to the same period in 2008. The decrease can be attributable to 
 Guyana Precious taking responsibility for advance royalty payments on the Coppermine River Property 
 in 2008.

Capital and other taxes for the year ended October 31, 2009 was $348,738 (year ended October 31, • 
 2008 – $45,831). The change for the year ended October 31, 2009 was an increase of $302,907 
 compared to the same period in 2008. The increase can be attributable to a $262,602 payment to the 
 Minister of Finance (Ontario) for capital taxes owing in prior years during the year ended October 31, 
 2009 compared to $nil in the prior year period.

Write-down of equity investment in Guyana Precious for the year ended October 31, 2009 was $nil (year • 
 ended October 31, 2008 - $3,354,633). The change for the year ended October 31, 2009 was a 
 decrease of $3,354,633 compared to the same period in 2008. The Company has decided to writedown 
 the value of its investment in Guyana Precious as at October 31, 2008 to market value to reflect 
 the fair value of the investment.

Write-off of mineral exploration properties for the year ended October 31, 2009 was $53,540 (year • 
 ended October 31, 2008 - $3,136,990). The change for the year ended October 31, 2009 was a 
 decrease of $3,083,450 compared to the same period in 2008. The decrease can be attributable to the 
 write-off of the Peters Mine Property. See “Mineral Exploration Properties” above.

Office expense for the year ended October 31, 2009, was $1,091,376 (year ended October 31, 2008 - • 
 $395,787). The increase of $695,589 was due to higher levels of investor relations, marketing and 
 corporate activities.

All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.• 

Three months ended October 31, 2009, compared with three months ended October 31, 2008

The Company’s net loss totaled $3,505,124 for the three months ended October 31, 2009, with basic and 
diluted loss per share of $0.06. This compares with a net loss of $8,639,495 with basic and diluted loss per share 
of $0.17 for the three months ended October 31, 2008. The decrease of $5,134,371 in net loss was principally 
due to:
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 Stock-based compensation expense during the three months ended October 31, 2009, was $1,444,908 • 
 (three months ended October 31, 2008 – $(286,533)), an increase of $1,731,441 compared to the 
 same period in 2008. During the three months ended October 31, 2009, the Company issued 840,000 
 options compared with 165,000 in the comparative period. Stock-based compensation expense varies  
 due to the vesting terms of options. The options issued vested in accordance with the stock option plan. 
 Users of the financial statements should be cautious of the valuation of stock-based compensation since 
 its calculation is subjective and can impact net loss significantly.

Foreign exchange gain for the three months ended October 31, 2009, decreased by $836,138, • 
 compared with the same period in 2008. The decrease in foreign exchange gain can be attributed to 
 decreased transactions in Guyana and US dollar exchange rate fluctuations.

Professional fees for the three months ended October 31, 2009, were $161,707 (three months ended • 
 October 31, 2008 – $145,184), an increase of $16,523 compared to the same period in 2008. This 
 increase can be attributed to increased corporate activity.

Management and consulting fees for the three months ended October 31, 2009, were $211,294 (three • 
 months ended October 31, 2008 - $5,833), an increase of $205,461 compared to the same period in 
 2008. This increase is attributable to salary paid to the new President and COO, Claude Lemasson, who 
 was appointed during the first quarter of 2009 and bonuses paid or accrued during the year.

Unrealized loss on short-term investments for the three months ended October 31, 2009, was $117,417 • 
 (three months ended October 31, 2008 – ($2,693,308)), a decrease of $2,810,725 compared to the 
 same period in 2008. The unrealized loss on investments in short-term securities arose from 
 adjustments to fair value in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, and resulted from an 
 overall decrease in the market value of the Company’s junior resource company portfolio.

Mineral exploration properties royalties for the three months ended October 31, 2009 was $nil (three • 
 months ended October 31, 2008 - a recovery of $400,000). The change for the three months ended

 October 31, 2009 was a decrease of $400,000 compared to the same period in 2008. The decrease can • 
 be attributable to Guyana Precious taking responsibility for advance royalty payments on the 
 Coppermine River Property in 2008.

Office expense for the three months ended October 31, 2009, was $406,320 (three months ended • 
 October 31, 2008 - $110,424). The increase of $295,896 was due to higher levels of investor relations, 
 marketing and corporate activities.

Capital and other taxes for the three months ended October 31, 2009 was $348,738 (three months • 
 ended October 31, 2008 – $45,831). The change for the three months ended October 31, 2009 was an 
 increase of $302,907 compared to the same period in 2008. The increase can be attributable to a 
 $262,602 payment to Minister of Finance (Ontario) for capital taxes owing in prior years during the three 
 months ended October 31, 2009 compared to $nil in the comparative period.

GGI’s share of loss from its equity investment in Guyana Precious for the three months ended October • 
 31, 2009, was $643,790 (three months ended October 31, 2008 - $763,957), a decrease of $120,167 
 in loss compared to the same period in 2008. Management has recognized GGI’s share of Guyana 
 Precious’s loss using the equity method. GGI’s interest in Guyana Precious increased from 11.61% to 
 16.41% as a result of Guyana Precious issuing 5,000,000 common shares (valued at $1,250,000) to 
 CCI, a subsidiary of GGI, on November 6, 2008. See “Coppermine River Property” under “Mineral 
 Exploration Properties” above.

Write-down of equity investment in Guyana Precious for the three months ended October 31, 2009 • 
 was $nil (three months ended October 31, 2008 - $3,354,633). The change for the three months ended 
 October 31, 2009 was a decrease of $3,354,633 compared to the same period in 2008. The Company 
 has decided to write-down the value of its investment in Guyana Precious as at October 31, 2008 to 
 market value to reflect the fair value of the investment.
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Write-off of mineral exploration properties for the three months ended October 31, 2009 was $53,540 • 
 (three months ended October 31, 2008 - $3,136,990). The change for the three months ended October 
 31, 2009 was a decrease of $3,083,450 compared to the same period in 2008. The decrease can be 
 attributable to the write-off of the Peters Mine Property. See “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES” 
 above.

All other expenses related to general working capital purposes.• 

See also “MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES” above.

Financings completed during fiscal 2009

GGI closed a non-brokered private placement in two tranches on June 3, 2009 and June 9, 2009, for aggregate 
gross proceeds of $17,050,000 (See “OUTLOOK AND OVERALL PERFORMANCE – Other Developments”, 
above). The proceeds of the non-brokered were raised to continue its drilling campaign and complete the pr 
development phase of the Aurora Project, which includes the environmental and social impact assessment, the 
hydropower feasibility study, and the Pre-Development Study. As of October 31, 2009, these funds are still on 
hand and will be used in Quarter 1 (2010) through Quarter 3 (2010) to complete the Pre-Development Study 
and for general working capital purposes.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Historically, the Company’s sole source of funding has been the issuance of equity securities for cash. For the 
year ended October 31, 2009, the following equity transactions were completed:

On January 28, 2009, the Company issued 7,796,910 Common Shares in exchange for 25,343,556 • 
 Aranka common shares. Through a Plan of Arrangement, the Company received $5,796,757 (net of 
 costs) in cash and cash equivalents. See “Aranka Properties” under “MINERAL EXPLORATION 
 PROPERTIES” above.

The Company completed a non-brokered private placement in two tranches on June 3, 2009, and • 
 June 9, 2009, of 6,200,000 Units at a price of $2.75 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 
 $17,050,000.

The Company received proceeds of $1,523,569 from the exercise of 654,450 stock options during • 
 various times during the year.

Based on the successful completion of PA NI43-101 Technical Report and the expected positive completion 
of phase two of the Pre-Development Study in Quarter 3 (2010), the Company anticipates the potential of 
taking the Aurora Project into production. In anticipation of this, a high-level 3-year (2010-2012) budget by 
quarter was developed for the Company, which totals US$328 million. This budget essentially encompasses the 
corporate activities, the completion of the pre-development of the Aurora Project as well as the development of 
the project, and extensive exploration on the Aranka Properties.

The budgeted corporate activities from Toronto, Canada account for US$3.2 million in 2010 and about US$10 
million over the three-year period.

The Aranka exploration activities account for US$6 million in 2010 and about US$18 million over the three 
year period.

The Aurora Project budget accounts for US$70 million in 2010 and US$300 million over the three-year 
period. The 2010 budget can be broken down into US$20 million for pre-development activities, which 
includes US$10 million for further drilling and feasibility study work and US$10 million for a bridging 
plans during the first and second quarters, and US$50 million for the start of development and 
construction activities in the third and fourth quarters upon approval of the project. The total budget 
for the development and construction of the Aurora Project is US$280 million.
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However, the Aurora Project and Aranka Properties are currently not in the production stage. As a result, the 
Company has no current sources of revenue and relies on the issuance of Common Shares to generate the 
funds required to advance its projects. GGI currently does not has sufficient funds to meet its 2010 planned 
expenditures; the Company will have to source financing in the near term to potentially lock in items such as 
equipment with long lead times, commence detailed engineering and meet its other budgetary requirements. In 
the event that the capital markets for financing is not available, or the cost of capital is excessive, the Company 
may have to delay the development of the Aurora Project, as determined by the Board of Directors, following 
the completion of phase two of the Pre-Development Study in Quarter 3 (2010).

The Company maintains its surplus funds in cash and guaranteed investment certificates with Canadian banks.

At October 31, 2009, the Company had $22,579,531 in cash and cash equivalents (October 31, 2008: 
$13,948,967). The Company had working capital of $22,167,311 as of October 31, 2009, compared to 
working capital of $14,480,696 as of October 31, 2008. Working capital increased for the current period 
as a result of the Aranka acquisition (See “Aranka Properties” under the section “MINERAL EXPLORATION 
PROPERTIES”, above), which provided cash and cash equivalents of $5,796,757 (net of costs), and from the 
non-brokered private placement, which provided cash and cash equivalents of $16,846,609 (net of costs). 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities decreased to $1,970,629 as at October 31, 2009, compared to $2,179,476 
as at October 31, 2008, primarily due to payments for exploration expenditures. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents and short-term investments balance as at October 31, 2009, are sufficient to pay these liabilities.

For the year ended October 31, 2009, GGI paid the vendor of the Aurora Project $119,650 (US$100,000) pursu-
ant to its agreement with the vendor. See “Ownership Interest” under “Aurora Project” under section
“MINERAL EXPLORATION PROPERTIES” above.

Cash used in operations was $3,023,624 for the year ended October 31, 2009. The most significant non-cash 
credits to net loss include an unrealized gain on short-term investments of $127,830. The most significant no 
cash charges to net loss include stock-based compensation of $2,562,871 and share of Guyana Precious net loss 
of $1,328,330. Operating activities were also affected by the net change in non-cash working capital balances 
of $155,692, which was determined by an increase in accounts receivable and a decrease in accounts payable 
over the prior year.

Cash used in investing activities was $6,897,250 for the year ended October 31, 2009, which primarily relates 
to the proceeds from sale of short-term investments of $1,341,211 and cash expenditures on mineral proper-
ties of $14,022,033. These investing activities have been offset by cash of $5,796,757 received from the Aranka 
acquisition, as discussed above and the purchase of equipment of $13,185.

Cash provided by financing activities was $18,665,178, which relates to gross proceeds of $17,050,000 
less share issuance costs of $203,391 received from the non-brokered private placement and $1,523,569 of 
proceeds for the exercise of stock options. In addition, in fiscal 2008, the Company loaned two consultants, 
$295,000 to exercise Company stock options. The loans were recorded as a reduction of share capital in fiscal 
2008. The loans were unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. As at October 31, 2009, the loans 
were satisfied in full.

An amount of $50,000 was advanced to a director by the Company pursuant to a promissory note bearing an 
interest rate equal to the Royal Bank of Canada prime rate plus 2% and which is due on demand but in any event 
was due and payable no later than March 1, 2009. The advance has been satisfied in full.

The Company relies on external financings to generate capital. As a result, the Company continues to incur 
net losses. As of October 31, 2009, the Company had 65,756,503 Common Shares issued and outstanding, 
4,830,000 warrants outstanding which would raise $20,012,000 if exercised in full and 5,870,000 options 
outstanding which would raise $21,774,950 if exercised in full. The Company expects to receive funds from the 
exercise of warrants and options subsequent to October 31, 2009, if the market price of the Company’s traded 
Common Shares continues to be strong. Management does not know when and how much will be collected as 
this is dependent on the determination of each warrant and option holder.
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The Company continues to have no debt and its credit and interest rate risk is minimal. Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are short-term and non-interest bearing.

The Company’s liquidity risk with financial instruments is minimal as excess cash is invested in short-term
guaranteed deposits. In addition, accounts receivable are composed mainly of sales tax receivable from
government authorities in Canada and deposits held with consultants and other service providers.

The market value of the Company’s investment in public companies as of October 31, 2009, was $818,560. 
The Company can sell the short-term investments to access funds to settle its obligations as they arise. However, 
management intends to maintain the Company’s short-term investments until it becomes advantageous to sell 
these shares or liquidity concerns necessitate such sale.

The Company has no operating revenues and therefore, must utilize its current cash reserves, income from short-
term investments, funds obtained from the exercise of warrants and stock options and other financing transac-
tions to maintain its capacity to meet working capital requirements and ongoing discretionary exploration and 
engineering programs, or to fund any further development activities.

Regardless of whether or not the Company develops the Aurora Project, its working capital of $22,167,311 as 
at October 31, 2009, is anticipated to be adequate for it to continue operations at the current level in the short 
term. However, to meet long-term business plans, developing the Aurora Project and exploring the Aranka 
Properties is an important component of the Company’s financial success. In addition, in order to meet the 
Company’s anticipated budget of US$328 million, the Company will require to source financing.

COMMITMENTS

As at October 31, 2009, the Company had a discretionary operating commitment US$328 million over a three 
year period beginning with fiscal 2010 (See “LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND BUSINESS PROSPECTS”, 
above). GGI currently does not has sufficient funds to meet its 2010 planned expenditures; the Company will 
have to source financing in the near term to potentially lock in items such as equipment with long lead times, 
commence detailed engineering and meet its other budgetary requirements. In the event that the capital markets 
for financing is not available, or the cost of capital is excessive, the Company may have to delay the develop-
ment of the Aurora Project, as determined by the Board of Directors, following the completion of phase two of 
the Pre-Development Study in Quarter 3 (2010).

The Company is party to certain management and consulting contracts. These contracts contain clauses 
requiring additional payments to be made upon the occurrence of certain events such as contract termination or 
change of control by the Company. The additional commitments range from $870,000 for contract termination 
to $1,680,000 as a result of a change of control.

Property “C” was purchased for $42,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $200,000) from an 
unrelated third party. As at October 31, 2009, $20,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $95,000) has 
been paid. The remaining $22,000,000 Guyanese dollars is payable upon receipt of mining permits issued to the 
Company. Property “C” is located in Guyana, South America.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

As of December 30, 2009, $230,250 was received on the exercise of 60,000 stock options and $50,000 was 
received on the exercise of 12,500 warrants.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares. As of January 8, 2010, the 
Company had 65,829,003 Common Shares outstanding.

As of January 8, 2010, the following stock options were outstanding, each exercisable to acquire one 
Common Share:
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Number of stock options Exercise price Expiry date

280,000   $2.02  February 1, 2010

525,000   $2.00  April 28, 2010

500,000   $3.30  November 21, 2010

50,000   $3.62  November 29, 2010

335,000   $3.70  January 24, 2011

100,000   $8.03  May 29, 2011

250,000   $7.24  June 19, 2011

30,000   $9.06  October 16, 2011

50,000   $5.40  October 23, 2011

125,000   $11.10  November 14, 2011

200,000   $3.09  April 9, 2012

715,000   $2.75  May 1, 2012

50,000   $3.50  June 23, 2012

30,000   $3.37  July 13, 2012

75,000   $4.00  August 19, 2012

275,000   $4.54  August 25, 2012

250,000   $6.65  April 14, 2013

165,000   $3.18  August 26, 2013

750,000   $2.69  February 27, 2014

650,000   $3.03  April 8, 2014

375,000   $4.19  September 29, 2014

30,000   $5.40  October 23, 2011

5,810,000

As of January 8, 2010, the following warrants were outstanding, each exercisable to acquire one Common 
Share:

Number of warrants Exercise price Expiry date

1,730,000   $4.40  March 8, 2011

2,223,865  $4.00  June 3, 2012 (1)

863,635  $4.00  June 3, 2012 (1)

4,817,500  

Subsequent to June 3, 2010, if the closing price of the Company’s Common Shares exceeds $6.00 for 30 (1) 
 consecutive trading days, then the warrant term will be automatically reduced and the warrants will 
 expire on the date that is 60 days following either the issuance of a press release or the provision to the 
 holders of the warrants of written notice announcing the reduced warrant term, all in accordance with 
 the terms of the certificates representing the warrants.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

There are no proposed transactions of a material nature being considered by the Company. However, the 
Company continues to evaluate properties and corporate entities that it may acquire in the future. See “Overall 
Objective” above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are the following amounts due to related parties:
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  October 31, 2009 $ October 31, 2008 $

Edward J. Badida, former officer  59,298 59,298

Marrelli Support Services Inc. (“MSSI”), a
company controlled by Carmelo Marrelli, Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”) of GGI  11,492  12,317

J. Patrick Sheridan, Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”) and director (1)  100,000  nil

1140301 Ontario Inc., controlled by Alan Ferry,
director of GGI  4,725  nil

Robert Bondy, a director of the Company  12,600  nil

Daniel Noone, a director of the Company  9,000  nil

Richard Williams, a director of the Company  3,000  nil

Total   200,115  71,615

(b) The Company had the following related party transactions during the periods presented:

  Year Ended Year Ended
Operating Expenses October 31, 2009 $ October 31, 2008 $

Consulting fees
J. Patrick Sheridan, President, CEO and director (1) 188,503  71,956

Management fees
Edward J. Badida, former officer nil  95,264

Management fees
Marrelli CFO Outsource
Syndicate Inc., a company controlled by
Carmelo Marrelli, the CFO of GGI 42,000  10,500

Accounting Fees
MSSI, a company controlled by
Carmelo Marrelli, the CFO of GGI 27,750  nil

Consulting fees
1140301 Ontario Inc., controlled by
Alan Ferry, director of GGI 25,000  9,000

Consulting fees
Robert Bondy, a director of the Company 12,000  nil

Consulting fees
Daniel Noone, a director of the Company 9,000  nil

Consulting fees
Richard Williams, a director of the Company 9,000  nil
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  Year Ended Year Ended
Mineral exploration expenditures October 31, 2009 $ October 31, 2008 $

Consulting fees
J. Patrick Sheridan, President, CEO and director (1) 192,000  192,000

Consulting fees
Alexander Po, director  90,405  59,452

Total   595,658  438,172

J. Patrick Sheridan consulting fee has increased from $280,000 to $310,000 per year effective (1) 
 November 1, 2009. The consulting agreement expires March 1, 2012.

(c) Included in accounts receivable is $nil (October 31, 2008 - $17,093) owing from Guyana Precious and $nil 
(October 31, 2008 - $29,074) owing from the CEO and former CFO. During the year ended October 31, 2009, 
the Company received $20,532, (2008 - $40,292) for rent from Guyana Precious related to a cost sharing ar-
rangement between the companies.

GGI has agreed to provide established logistical and geological support to Guyana Precious. GGI and Guyana 
Precious have signed an “Area of Influence” agreement that restricts Guyana Precious from participating in 
property acquisition and development within a defined area of GGI’s exploration and development activities in 
Guyana. In addition, GGI will have a “Right of First Opportunity” to acquire advanced stage properties in which 
there is a defined resource.

(d) An amount of $50,000 was advanced to Richard Williams, a director, by the Company pursuant to a promissory 
note bearing an interest rate equal to the Royal Bank of Canada prime rate plus 2% and which is due on demand 
but in any event was due and payable no later than March 1, 2009. The advance has been satisfied in full.

(e) J. Patrick Sheridan (CEO) and Carmelo Marrelli (CFO) of the Company are also officers in the same capacity 
with Aranka.

(f) Mr. Lemasson, the President and COO of the Company, purchased an aggregate of 363,636 Units in the non-
brokered private placement that closed in two tranches on June 3, 2009, and June 9, 2009.

All the above related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

In addition, the Company sold the remaining 50% interest in the Coppermine River Project to Guyana Precious.

CHANGES IN CANADIAN ACCOUNTING RECOMMENDATIONS

Effective November 1, 2008, the Company adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”):

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Effective November 1, 2008, the Company adopted CICA section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which 
replaced CICA Handbook sections 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and 3450, “Research and 
Development Costs”, as well as EIC-27, “Revenues and Expenditures During the Preoperating Period”, and part 
of Accounting Guideline 11, “Enterprises in the development stage”. The objectives of CICA section 3064 are: 
1) to reinforce the principle-based approach to the recognition of assets; 2) to establish the criteria for asset 
recognition and; 3) to clarify the application of the concept of matching revenues and expenses such that the 
current practice of recognizing assets that do not meet the recognition criteria is eliminated. The new standard 
also provides guidance for the recognition of internally developed intangible assets (including research and 
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development activities), ensuring consistent treatment of all intangible assets. The portions in the new stan-
dard relating to goodwill remain unchanged. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company’s 
presentation of its financial position or results of operations for the year ended October 31, 2009.

Amendments to Section 1400 – General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation In June 2007, the CICA 
amended Handbook Section 1400, “Going Concern”, to include additional requirements to assess and disclose an 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Section 1400 is effective for interim and annual financial statements 
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2008. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the 
Company’s presentation of its financial position or results of operations for the year ended October 31, 2009.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Implementation Plan

The Accounting Standards Board has confirmed that IFRS will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly 
accountable enterprises, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the 
Company will report interim and annual financial statements (with comparatives) in accordance with IFRS 
beginning with the quarter ended January 31, 2012.

The Company has commenced the development of an IFRS implementation plan to prepare for this transition, 
and is currently in the process of analyzing the key areas where changes to current accounting policies may 
be required. While an analysis will be required for all current accounting policies, the initial key areas of 
assessment will include:

Exploration and development expenditures;• 

Property, plant and equipment (measurement and valuation);• 

Stock-based compensation;• 

Accounting for income taxes; and• 

First-time adoption of IFRS (IFRS 1).• 

As the analysis of each of the key areas progresses, other elements of the Company’s IFRS implementation plan will 
also be addressed, including: the implication of changes to accounting policies and processes; financial statement 
note disclosures on information technology; internal controls; contractual arrangements; and employee training. 
The table below summarizes the expected timing of activities related to the Company’s transition to IFRS.

Initial analysis of key areas for which changes to  In progress, expected to be complete
accounting policies may be required  during Q2 2010

Detailed analysis of all relevant IFRS requirements  
and identification of areas requiring accounting policy Throughout 2010
changes or those with accounting policy alternatives

Assessment of first-time adoption (IFRS 1) 
 Throughout 2010

requirements and alternatives

Final determination of changes to accounting policies  
and choices to be made with respect to first-time  Q4 2010 – Q1 2011
adoption alternatives

Resolution of the accounting policy change  
implications on information technology,  Q4 2010 – Q1 2011
internal controls and contractual arrangements

Management and employee education and training  Throughout the transition process

Quantification of the Financial Statement  
impact of changes in accounting policies  Throughout 2011
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Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-Controlling Interests

The CICA issued three new accounting standards in January 2009: Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, Sec-

tion 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements” and Section 1602, “Non-Controlling Interests”. These new stan-
dards will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Section 1582 replaces section 1581 
and establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian equivalent to 
IFRS 3 - Business Combinations. Sections 1601 and 1602 together replace section 1600, “Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements”. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 
Section 1602 establishes standards for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated 
financial statements subsequent to a business combination. It is equivalent to the corresponding provisions of 
IFRS lAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The Company is in the process of evaluating the 
requirements of the new standards.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Canadian GAAP requires that the Company disclose information about the fair value of its financial assets and 
liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the balance sheet date, based on relevant market information and 
information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties 
in significant matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions 
could significantly affect these estimates.

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, market risk (including interest rate, 
foreign exchange rate and price risk) and credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from the Audit Committee 
under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular guidance for 
overall risk management.

(a) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions gener-
ally or as a result of conditions specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its 
financing activities and interest income earned on its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The 
Company has cash and cash equivalents of $22,579,531 (October 31, 2008 - $13,948,967) to settle current li-
abilities of $1,970,629 (October 31, 2008 - $2,179,476). The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to 
ensure preservation and security of capital as well as maintenance of liquidity.

All of the Company’s financial liabilities are subject to normal trade terms.

(b) Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will significantly fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial instruments can be affected 
by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. In the normal course of business, the 
Company is exposed to market risks as a result of its investments in publicly traded companies. During periods 
of significant broader market volatility or volatility experienced by the resource/commodity markets, the value of 
the Company’s investment portfolio can be vulnerable to market fluctuations. Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% 
change in the bid price of the Company’s investments in public companies with all other variables held constant 
as at October 31, 2009, would affect net loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $82,000.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian 
dollar and major purchases are transacted in Canadian dollars. The Company funds certain operations, 
exploration and administrative expenses in Guyana on a cash call basis using US dollars converted from its Cana-
dian dollar bank accounts held in Canada. The Company maintains US dollar bank accounts in Canada, Barbados 
and Guyana and Guyanese bank accounts in Guyana. The Company is subject to gains and losses due to fluctua-
tions in the US and Guyanese dollar against the Canadian dollar. Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% change in all 
foreign currencies (Guyanese and US dollars) against the Canadian dollar with all other variables held constant as 
at October 31, 2009, would affect net loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $30,000.
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Interest rate risk is the impact that changes in interest rates could have on the Company’s earnings and 
assets. In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations as a result of 
cash equivalents being invested in interest-bearing instruments. Interest rate risk is minimal as the Company’s 
interest-bearing instruments have fixed interest rates.

(c) Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts re-
ceivable. The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash are held with reputable financial institutions, from which management believes 
the risk of loss to be minimal. Accounts receivable include accrued interest and deposits held with consultants 
and other service providers; $359,838 represents the maximum credit exposure (October 31, 2008 - $319,852). 
Accounts receivable are in good standing as of October 31, 2009. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to accounts receivable is minimal.

(d) Fair value

As at October 31, 2009, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s financial instruments were 
approximately equivalent.

MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL
The Company defines capital that it manages as its shareholders equity. When managing capital, the Com-
pany’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to achieve optimal returns to 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management adjusts the capital structure as necessary in order 
to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management team to sustain the future development of the business. As at October 31, 2009, total 
shareholders’ equity (managed capital) was $78,559,603 (October 31, 2008 - $55,439,280). The properties in 
which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration or feasibility stage. As such the Company is 
dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out its planned exploration programs and 
pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts 
as needed.

In light of the above, the Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in 
additional properties if it believes there is sufficient potential and if it has adequate financial resources to 
do so.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is appropriate. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended October 31, 2009.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Company believes that its  
current capital resources will be sufficient to discharge its liabilities as at October 31, 2009.

RISK FACTORS

The following discussion summarizes the principal risk factors that apply to Guyana Goldfields’ business 
and that may have a material adverse effect on Guyana Goldfields’ business, financial condition and results 
of operations, or the trading price of the Common Shares. In addition, readers should also refer to the 
disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s most recent annual information form filed on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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Exploration, Development and Operating Risks

Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. Guyana Goldfields’ operations are subject to all the 
hazards and risks normally encountered in the exploration, development and production of gold, including 
unusual and unexpected geologic formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other 
conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or 
destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, damage to life or property, environmental damage and 
possible legal liability. Although adequate precautions to minimize risk will be taken, milling operations are 
subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which 
may result in environmental pollution and consequent liability.

The exploration for and development of mineral deposits involves significant risks which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of an ore body may result 
in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major 
expenses may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop metallurgical processes and to 
construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the exploration or 
development programs planned by Guyana Goldfields will result in a profitable commercial mining operation. 
Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, some of which are: 
the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure; metal prices which 
are highly cyclical; and government regulations, including regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land 
tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection. The exact effect of these 
factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in Guyana Goldfields not 
receiving an adequate return on invested capital.

There is no certainty that the expenditures made by Guyana Goldfields towards the search and evaluation of 
mineral deposits will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of ore.

Licensing Matters

Guyana Goldfields’ operations are subject to receiving and maintaining permits and licences from appropriate 
governmental authorities. Although Guyana Goldfields currently has all required permits and licences for its 
operations as currently conducted, there is no assurance that delays will not occur in connection with 
obtaining all necessary renewals of such permits and licences for the existing operations or additional permits 
or licences for all future new operations. Prior to any development on any of its properties, Guyana Goldfields 
must receive permits and licences from appropriate governmental authorities. There can be no assurance that 
Guyana Goldfields will continue to hold all permits and licences necessary to develop or continue operating 
at any particular property, or that any such licences or permits awarded will not be cancelled pursuant to ap-
plicable legislation.

The interest of Guyana Goldfields in the Aurora Project is held through a prospecting license PL14/2004. There 
can be no assurance that the prospecting licence will continue in force in respect of the parcel to which it re-
lates or that it will not be terminated by refusal to grant a mining licence or the lapse of the application for the 
mining licence.

A mining license as well as other permits and licences will be required from the GGMC in order to mine, 
develop and exploit the Aurora Project. An environmental permit will also be required from the EPA of Guyana. 
Mining licences are granted at the discretion of the GGMC and require the holder to pay applicable fees as 
may be prescribed by the GGMC and a royalty, the amount of which varies and is subject to negotiation with 
respect to each particular mining licence and may contain such conditions as are specified in the Mining Act. 
There can be no assurance that the GGMC will exercise its discretion to grant a mining licence to the Company 
with respect to the Aurora Project, upon terms acceptable to the Company or at all, in the absence of which 
the Company would be unable to develop, mine or exploit the Aurora Project. The grant of a renewal of a 
mining licence is also subject to the discretion of the GGMC and accordingly, there can be no assurance that any 
mining licence which may be granted to Guyana Goldfields in the future will be renewed.
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Insurance and Uninsured Risks

Guyana Goldfields’ business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 
environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological conditions, 
ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment and natural phenomena such as in-
clement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral prop-
erties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to Guyana Goldfields’ properties 
or the properties of others, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability.

The Company only currently maintains director’s and officer’s liability insurance and general liability insurance 
in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable. Accordingly, the insurance of the Company does not cover the 
potential risks associated with a mining company’s operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain
insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be
available or may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as
environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally available 
to Guyana Goldfields or to other companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. Guyana Goldfields 
might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which 
Guyana Goldfields may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these 
events may cause Guyana Goldfields to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its 
financial performance and results of operations.

Environmental Risks and Hazards

All phases of Guyana Goldfields’ operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions 
in which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality 
standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and 
disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require 
stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environ-
mental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their 
officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, 
will not adversely affect Guyana Goldfields’ operations. Environmental hazards may exist on the properties on 
which Guyana Goldfields holds interests which are unknown to Guyana Goldfields at present and which have 
been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the properties. Government approvals and permits 
are currently, and may in the future be required in connection with Guyana Goldfields’ operations. To the 
extent such approvals are required and not obtained, Guyana Goldfields may be curtailed or prohibited from 
proceeding with planned exploration or development of mineral properties.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement 
actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease 
or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional 
equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations or in the exploration or development of
mineral properties may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining 
activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or 
regulations.

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining and explo-
ration companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on Guyana 
Goldfields and cause increases in exploration expenses or capital expenditures or require abandonment or 
delays in development of new mining properties.

Potential production at certain of Guyana Goldfields’ mines may involve the use of sodium cyanide which is 
a poison. Should sodium cyanide leak or otherwise be discharged from the containment system then Guyana 
Goldfields may become subject to liability for clean up work that may not be insured. While all steps will be 
taken to prevent discharges of pollutants into the ground water and the environment, Guyana Goldfields may 
become subject to liability for hazards that may not be insured against.
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Global Financial Conditions

Global financial conditions have been subject to increased volatility and numerous financial institutions have 
recently either gone into bankruptcy or have had to be rescued by governmental authorities. Such events may 
impact the ability of the Company to obtain equity or debt financing in the future or on terms favourable to the 
Company. If these increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company’s operations could be 
adversely impacted and the value and the price of the Common Shares and other securities could also be
adversely affected.

Infrastructure

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate 
infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important determinants, which af-
fect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, government or other 
interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect Guyana Goldfields’ 
operations, financial condition and results of operations.

Uncertainty Relating to Mineral Resources

Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. Due to the 
uncertainty which may attach to mineral resources, there is no assurance that mineral resources will be 
upgraded to mineral reserves as a result of continued exploration.

Reliability of Resource Estimates

There is no certainty that any of the mineral resources on any of Guyana Goldfields’ properties will be 
realized. Until a deposit is actually mined and processed the quantity of mineral resources and grades must be 
considered as estimates only. In addition, the quantity of mineral resources may vary depending on, among oth-
er things, metal prices. Any material change in quantity of mineral resources, grade or stripping ratio may affect 
the economic viability of any project undertaken by Guyana Goldfields. In addition, there can be no assurance 
that gold recoveries or other metal recoveries in small scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in a larger scale 
test under on-site conditions or during production.

Fluctuations in gold and other base or precious metals prices, results of drilling, metallurgical testing and 
production and the evaluation of studies, reports and plans subsequent to the date of any estimate may require 
revision of such estimate. Any material reductions in estimates of mineral resources could have a material ad-
verse effect on Guyana Goldfields’ results of operations and financial condition.

Uncertainty of Preliminary Assessment Results

Feasibility studies are used to determine the economic viability of a deposit, as are pre-feasibility studies and 
preliminary assessments. Feasibility studies are the most detailed and reflect a higher level of confidence in 
the reported capital and operating costs. Generally accepted levels of confidence are plus or minus 15% for 
feasibility studies, plus or minus 25-30% for pre-feasibility studies and plus or minus 35-40% for preliminary 
assessments. These levels reflect the levels of confidence that exist at the time the study is completed. Accord-
ingly, while the preliminary assessment contained in the PA NI43-101 Technical Report is based on the best 
information available to the Company for the level of study, the Company cannot be certain that actual costs 
will not significantly exceed the estimated cost. While the Company incorporates what it believes is an appro-
priate contingency factor in cost estimates to account for this uncertainty, there can be no assurance that the 
contingency factor is adequate.

No History of Mineral Production

Guyana Goldfields has never had any interest in mineral producing properties. There is no assurance that 
commercial quantities of minerals will be discovered at any of the properties of Guyana Goldfields or any future 
properties, nor is there any assurance that the exploration programs of Guyana Goldfields thereon will yield 
any positive results. Even if commercial quantities of minerals are discovered, there can be no assurance that 
any property of Guyana Goldfields will ever be brought to a stage where mineral resources can profitably be 
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produced thereon. Factors which may limit the ability of Guyana Goldfields to produce mineral resources 
from   its properties include, but are not limited to, the price of the mineral resources which are currently being 
explored for, availability of additional capital and financing and the nature of any mineral deposits.

Land Title

Although the title to the properties in which Guyana Goldfields holds an interest were reviewed by or on 
behalf of Guyana Goldfields, no formal title opinions were delivered to Guyana Goldfields and, consequently, no 
assurances can be given that there are no title defects affecting such properties. Title insurance generally is not
available, and Guyana Goldfields’ ability to ensure that it has obtained secure claim to individual mineral 
properties or mining concessions may be severely constrained. Guyana Goldfields has not conducted surveys 
of the claims in which it holds direct or indirect interests and, therefore, the precise area and location of such 
claims may be in doubt. Accordingly, Guyana Goldfields’ mineral properties may be subject to prior unregistered 
liens, agreements, transfers or claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected defects.

In addition, Guyana Goldfields may be unable to operate its properties as permitted or to enforce its rights with 
respect to its properties.

Competition May Hinder Corporate Growth

The mining industry is competitive in all of its phases. Guyana Goldfields faces strong competition from 
other mining companies in connection with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, 
precious and base metals. Many of these companies have greater financial resources, operational experience 
and technical capabilities than Guyana Goldfields. As a result of this competition, Guyana Goldfields may be un-
able to maintain or acquire attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable or at all. Consequently, 
Guyana Goldfields’ revenues, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Additional Capital

The development and exploration of Guyana Goldfields’ properties may require substantial additional 
financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in delaying or indefinite postponement of exploration, 
development or production on any or all of Guyana Goldfields’ properties or even a loss of property interest. 
There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, 
if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to Guyana Goldfields.

Based upon the PA NI43-101 Technical Report, the Company does not have sufficient funds to bring the future
mine into production. Following completion of the planned Pre-Development Study, management, in conjunc-
tion with the board of directors of the Company, will be in the position to assess whether to proceed with the
development of the Aurora Project. Any decision to proceed will be dependent on the ability of the Company 
to source the additional financing required, which likely will be equity financing. The amount and timing of 
these raisings may be materially impacted by the economic climate in the capital markets. As a result, the cost 
and availability of equity may be restricted. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company will be 
able to raise sufficient funds to develop a mining operation at the Aurora Project upon terms acceptable to the 
Company, or at all. See also “Global Financial Conditions” above.

Commodity Prices

The price of the Common Shares, Guyana Goldfields’ financial results and exploration, development and 
mining activities may in the future be significantly adversely affected by declines in the price of gold. Gold 
prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond Guyana Goldfields’ control such as the 
sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, infla-
tion or deflation, fluctuation in the value of the United States dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional 
supply and demand, and the political and economic conditions of major gold-producing countries throughout 
the world. The price of gold has fluctuated widely in recent years, and future serious price declines could cause 
continued development of Guyana Goldfields’ properties to be impracticable. Future production from Guyana 
Goldfields’ properties is dependent on gold prices that are adequate to make these properties economic.
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In addition to adversely affecting Guyana Goldfields’ reserve and/or resource estimates and its financial 
condition, declining commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility 
of a particular project. Such a reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may be required 
under financing arrangements related to a particular project. Even if the project is ultimately determined to be 
economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt 
operations until the reassessment can be completed.

Exchange Rate Fluctuations

Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that Guyana Goldfields incurs in its operations. The appreciation 
of non-US dollar currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost of gold production in US dollar terms. 
Most of the Company’s expenditures that occur in Guyana are paid in US currency. Accordingly, a strengthened 
US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar would negatively impact the Company.

Government Regulation

The mining, processing, development and mineral exploration activities of Guyana Goldfields are subject to 
various laws governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, 
mine safety, toxic substances, land use, water use, land claims of local people and other matters.

Exploration may also be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited 
to, restrictions on future exploration and production, price controls, export controls, currency availability, for-
eign exchange controls, income taxes, delays in obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary permits, opposi-
tion to mining from environmental and other non-governmental organizations, limitations on foreign owner-
ship, expropriation of property, ownership of assets, environmental legislation, labour relations, limitations on 
repatriation of income and return of capital, limitations on mineral exports, high rates of inflation, increased 
financing costs, and site safety. This may affect both Guyana Goldfields’ ability to undertake exploration and 
development activities in respect of present and future properties in the manner contemplated, as well as its 
ability to continue to explore, develop and operate those properties in which it has an interest or in respect of 
which it has obtained exploration and development rights to date.

Although Guyana Goldfields believes that its exploration and development activities are currently carried 
out in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and 
regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which 
could limit or curtail development or future potential production. Amendments to current laws and regulations 
|governing operations and activities of mining and milling or more stringent implementation thereof could 
have a substantial adverse impact on Guyana Goldfields.

Political Risks

All of Guyana Goldfields’ current operations are presently conducted in Guyana, South America and as such, 
Guyana Goldfields’ operations are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks and uncer-
tainties. These risks and uncertainties vary from country to country and include, but are not limited to, currency 
exchange rates; high rates of inflation; labour unrest; renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions, 
licenses, permits and contracts; changes in taxation policies; restrictions on foreign exchange; and changing 
political conditions; currency controls and governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of 
contracts to local contractors or require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, a 
particular jurisdiction.

Future political actions cannot be predicted and may adversely affect Guyana Goldfields. Changes, if any, 
in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in the country of Guyana may adversely affect 
the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Future operations may be affected in 
varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, 
price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, 
environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water use and mine safety. The possibility 
that future governments may adopt substantially different policies, which may extend to the expropriation of 
assets, cannot be ruled out.
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Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral right applica-
tions and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements. The occurrence of these various 
factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s 
consolidated business, results of operations and financial condition.

Labour and Employment Matters

While Guyana Goldfields has good relations with its employees, these relations may be impacted by changes 
in the scheme of labour relations which may be introduced by the relevant governmental authorities in whose 
jurisdictions Guyana Goldfields carries on business. Adverse changes in such legislation may have a material 
adverse effect on Guyana Goldfields’ business, results of operations and financial condition.

Subsidiaries

The Company conducts certain of its operations through its subsidiaries, and holds certain of its assets through 
its subsidiaries. Accordingly, any limitation on the transfer of cash or other assets between the Company and its 
subsidiaries could restrict the Company’s ability to fund its operations efficiently. Any such limitations, or the 
perception that such limitations may exist now or in the future, could have an adverse impact on the Company’s 
valuation and stock price.

Market Price of Common Shares

Securities of micro- and small-cap companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, often based 
on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. These factors in-
clude macroeconomic developments in North America and globally and market perceptions of the attractive-
ness of particular industries. The Company’s share price is also likely to be significantly affected by short-term 
changes in gold prices or in its financial condition or results of operations as reflected in its quarterly earnings 
reports. Other factors unrelated to Guyana Goldfields’ performance that may have an effect on the price of the 
Common Shares include the following: the extent of analytical coverage available to investors concernin 
 Guyana Goldfields’ business may be limited if investment banks with research capabilities do not continue to 
follow the Company; lessening in trading volume and general market interest in the Company’s securities may 
affect an investor’s ability to trade significant numbers of Common Shares; the size of the Company’s public float 
may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in the Company’s securities; and a substantial decline in the 
price of the Common Shares that persists for a significant period of time could cause the Company’s securities 
to be delisted from the exchange on which they trade, further reducing market liquidity.

As a result of any of these factors, the market price of the Common Shares at any given point in time may not 
accurately reflect Guyana Goldfields’ long-term value. Securities class action litigation often has been brought 
against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. The Company may in the 
future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages and 
divert management’s attention and resources.

Future Sales of Common Shares by Existing Shareholders

Sales of a large number of Common Shares in the public markets, or the potential for such sales, could decrease 
the trading price of the Common Shares and could impair the Company’s ability to raise capital through future 
sales of Common Shares. Guyana Goldfields has previously completed private placements at prices per share 
which are from time to time lower than the market price of the Common Shares. Accordingly, a significant 
number of shareholders of the Company have an investment profit in the Common Shares that they may seek 
to liquidate.

Key Executives

Guyana Goldfields is dependent on the services of key executives, including the President and COO of the 
Company, the CEO of the Company and a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and 
personnel. Due to the relatively small size of Guyana Goldfields, the loss of these persons or Guyana Goldfields’ 
inability to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future 
operations.
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Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies 

involved in natural resource exploration and development and consequently there exists the possibility for 
such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of such directors and 
officers involving the Company will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly 
and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition, each of 
the directors is required to declare and refrain from voting on any matter in which such directors may have a 
conflict of interest in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Canada Business Corporations Act and 
other applicable laws.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain 
estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. The accounting estimates considered to be 
significant are the valuation of the Company’s resource assets and stock-based compensation.

The policy of capitalizing exploration costs to date does not necessarily relate to the future economic value of 
the exploration properties. The valuation of mineral resource properties is dependent entirely upon the discovery 
of economic mineral deposits.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of options and warrants. The main factor 
affecting the estimates of stock-based compensation is the stock price volatility used. The Company uses histori-
cal price data and comparables in the estimate of the stock price volatility.

Changes in the accounting estimates in the items discussed above may have a material impact on the financial 
position of the Company.

Other items requiring estimates are accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and future 
income taxes. Changes in the accounting estimates in these items may have a material impact on the financial 
position of the Company.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS

Disclosure controls and processes have been designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by 
the Company is compiled and reported to Company management as appropriate to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. The Company’s CEO and CFO have concluded, based on their evaluation as of 
October 31, 2009, that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable 
assurance that material information related to the Company is made known to them by employees and third 
party consultants working for the Company. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s disclosure 
controls and processes during the year ended October 31, 2009.

It should be noted that while the Company’s CEO and CFO believe that its disclosure controls and processes 
will provide a reasonable level of assurance and that they are effective, they do not expect that the disclosure 
controls and processes will prevent all errors and frauds. A control system, no matter how well conceived or 
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives are met.

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for certifying the design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
(“ICFR”) as required by National Instrument 52-109 – “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 
Filings”. ICFR is intended to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with applicable Canadian 
GAAP. ICFR should include those policies and procedures that establish the following:
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maintenance of records in reasonable detail that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and • 
 dispositions of assets;

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial • 
 statements in accordance with applicable Canadian GAAP;

receipts and expenditures are only being made in accordance with authorizations of management and • 
 the Board of Directors; and

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or • 
 disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, ICFR may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness in future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management, including the CEO and CFO, has evaluated the design of the Company’s ICFR as of October 31, 
2009, pursuant to the requirements of National Instrument 52-109. The Company has designed appropriate 
ICFR (COSO Framework, as discussed below) for the nature and size of the Company’s business, to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian GAAP except as noted herein:

The Company uses MSSI, a service organization in Canada, controlled by the CFO of GGI, to perform the ma-
jority of its financial reporting functions, including the recording of transactions, the reconciliation of accounts 
and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Controlling and monitoring processes performed 
by MSSI are as important as controlling and monitoring processes performed within the Company. Management 
currently monitors the work performed by MSSI through the review of the consolidated financial statements and 
other financial information and discussions with the staff of MSSI. Though these monitoring controls do provide 
some assurance, they lack a sufficient level of precision to ensure that all errors are prevented or detected.

MSSI has obtained an auditor’s report of controls as at September 30, 2009, that stated the internal control 
functions that clients of MSSI use are designed and operating effectively. GGI management has determined 
that the internal controls at MSSI are designed and operating effectively for Canadian operations. The con-
trol framework that MSSI has adopted to design certain functions is the COSO Framework published by The 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). COSO is recognized the world 
over for providing guidance on critical aspects of organizational governance, business ethics, internal control, 
enterprise risk management, fraud, and financial reporting.

Management has determined that the internal controls of the Company are designed and operating effectively. 
There have been no changes in ICFR during the year ended October 31, 2009, that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form for the most recently 

completed fiscal year, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

IFC REQUIREMENT

The following is the prospecting licence for the Aurora Project.

PROSPECTING LICENCE
UNDER SECTION 30 OF THE MINING ACT 1989

AND THE MINING REGULATIONS.

By the Guyana Geology and Mines Commission (hereinafter referred to as “the Commission”)

WHEREAS an application has been made to transfer rights to property set out hereinbelow from ALFRO  
ALPHONSO, whose registered office is at 13-15, University Gardens, Turkeyen, East Coast, Demerara, Guyana, 
to GUYANA GOLDFIELDS INC., whose registered office is at Suite 3-7, North Road, Lacytown, Georgetown, 
Demerara, Guyana, (hereinafter referred to as the “Licensee”)

Praying for the exclusive right of occupation and exploration of a certain tract of State Land hereinafter described, 
situate, lying and being in the Aurora area, Cuyuni, in the No. 4 Mining District; and (hereinafter referred to as 
the “Area”) more fully described in Annex “1” which is attached and made a part hereof.

FOR THE purpose of testing the value thereof, for Gold and Diamonds.

AND WHEREAS the Minister has approved of the said application:

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power and authority vested in the Guyana Geology and Mines 
Commission (hereinafter referred to as the “Commission”) under Section 30 of the Mining Act 1989, the said 
Licensee is granted the exclusive right to occupy and explore for the purpose of testing the value thereof for 
Gold, Diamonds, Platinum and all other economic minerals, but not to be worked for profit, or to be given out 
to lessees or tributors, the Area for a period of three (3) years from the 29th day of June 2004.

In consideration of the grant herein contained the Licensee hereby covenants and agrees as follows: (1) During 
the tenure of this Prospecting Licence the Licensee shall pay a rental of 50 cents (currency of the United States) 
per English Acre for the first year, 60 cents (currency of the United States) for the second year, and $1.00 per acre 
for the third year or at such rates as may be prescribed from time to time by the Mining Regulations and payable 
in Guyana dollars according to the exchange rate applied by the Commission on the day of payment. All such 
payments shall be made in advance and without demand.

Rental for the first year shall be payable at the signing of the said Licence and for all ensuing years shall be 
payable prior to the anniversary of the grant of this Licence.

During the term of the Mining Licence stage, the rental shall be U.S. $5.00 per English Acre. All payments to be 
made annually and in advance.
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(2) The Licensee may at any time during the period that this Prospecting Licence (or any renewals thereof) is in 
force apply for a Mining Licence over any part or parts of the Area and if the conditions of this Prospecting Li-
cence have been complied with and the Licensee submits a feasibility study approved by the Commission then 
the Commission with the approval of the Minister shall cause such Licence to be issued. The Mining Licence 
will be for a period agreed by the Commission (not exceeding twenty (20) years) or for the life of the deposit, 
whichever is the shorter, and may be renewed from time to time (for a period not exceeding seven (7) years on 
each occasion) or for the then remaining life of the deposit, whichever is shorter.

(3) The Licensee shall at all times afford to the Commissioner or other officer in that behalf appointed by him 
all proper facilities for entering upon and inspecting the works and operations of the Licensee within the Area 
and ascertaining the results thereof. And the Licensee shall as often as required in writing so to do by the said 
Commissioner or other officer in that behalf appointed by him furnish such true and proper returns and statis-
tics and other particulars of the operations carried on by the Licensee upon or within the Area and each and 
every of them and the results thereof and such mineral and rock specimens illustrating the same as the said 
Commissioner or other officer in that behalf appointed by him may require verifying the same if and when re-
quired so to do by a statutory declaration of the truth and correctness thereof.

(4) The Licensee shall supply to the Commission, by quarterly reports, all information acquired by the Licensee 
and relating to the Area, including raw and processed analytical data, field data and statistical data, copies 
of maps, diagrams, periodicals, negatives, graphs, charts and results of other testing. Such reports shall be 
supplied within one (1) month of the end of each quarter. Any information so supplied shall become the property 
of the Commission. During this Prospecting Licence, the Licensee shall duly report all minerals discovered and 
shall transfer to the Commission all gold, precious stones and other valuable minerals obtained by the Licensee 
from the Area, provided however that the Licensee shall be free to retain samples, including drill cores that can 
reasonably be used for evaluation and testing purposes, and to export some or part thereof when specifically 
authorized by the Commission to do so for testing purposes, such authorization not to be unreasonably withheld. 
The Licensee shall file with the Commissioner, by June 30th of each year, statements of its accounts, audited on 
behalf of the Licensee by a Guyanese accounting firm, approved by the Commission. Such audited statements
shall relate to the amounts expended during the previous year of exploration.

(5) The Licensee shall at the expiration of the Licence, or on the conclusion of exploration operations, 
whichever happens first, transmit to the Commissioner full information and such records of its search in the way 
of a geological map of the area and report, (together with such samples as may be called for) as will satisfy the 
Commission that bona fide exploration of the Area has been made.

(6) It shall be lawful for the State to grant to any person or persons rights-of-way for pipelines, power, telephone, 
telegraph and waterlines provided, however, that the Licensee shall be duly notified of such intentions and that 
the applicant shall be required to make appropriate arrangements so that his installations do not unduly interfere 
with or result in any additional cost to the operations of the Licensee.

(7) The Licensee shall not unduly disturb or interfere with the living conditions of the indigenous population 
settled within the Area. The Licensee shall respect and cause its employees and contractors to respect the 
customs of the indigenous population. The Licensee shall as far as practicable ensure that their employees 
and those of its contractors comply with all applicable laws and regulations of Guyana, respect its national 
heritage and customs and do not engage in any activity which contravenes its national policies. If at any point a 
resettlement appears to be absolutely essential the Licensee shall move with utmost caution with the authorities 
of the settlement in persuading the settlers to resettle and provide a fully adequate resettlement programme in 
accordance with the directions of the responsible Minister.

(8) The Licensee, subject to the Mining Regulations and the State Lands Regulations and Forest Regulations for 
the time being in force, may fell and make use of such timber growing on the land as may be necessary for the 
purpose of this Prospecting Licence on payment of the royalty of general application payable from time to time. 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that the occupation of land under this Prospecting Licence for the purpose of being tested 
shall be subject to the right of any person duly authorized thereto by the Commissioner, Lands and Surveys/
Commissioner of Forests to cut and remove timber or forest produce therefrom.
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(9) The Licensee shall not transfer, assign or sublet this Prospecting Licence or any portion of the rights granted 
thereunder without the prior consent of the Minister by endorsement on the said Licence.

(10) The Licensee shall be bound to commence operations on the land included under this Prospecting Licence 
within three (3) months from the date of commencement set out in condition thereof, and shall thereafter 
continue to pursue the purpose for which this Licence is granted to the satisfaction of the Commissioner of 
Guyana Geology and Mines Commission.

(11) This Prospecting Licence shall not confer on the holder any right to take or obtain Petroleum from any 
deposit that may exist in or under the land included in this Licence and all Officers of the Government and other 
persons thereto specifically authorized by the Government shall at all times have the right to enter such land for 
the purpose of obtaining Petroleum therefrom.

(12) If the Licensee fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions under which the Licence is granted, the 
Commission may cancel this Licence and thereupon all the rights thereunder of the Licensee or of any person 
claiming through or under the Licensee shall cease and determine. Section 52 of the Mining Act, 1989 shall 
apply to any cancellation of this Prospecting Licence.

(13) If the Licensee complies fully with the terms and conditions under which this Licence is issued, the Licence 
shall be renewed or extended in accordance with the conditions of this Licence, provided the Licence will not 
be extended beyond the fifth year of its currency unless the Minister is satisfied that such extension is warranted 
by exceptional circumstances.

(14) The actual waiver of the benefit of any covenant or condition of this Prospecting Licence on the part of the 
Commission shall not be assumed or deemed to extend to any instance or any breach of covenant or condition 
other than that to which such waiver shall specifically relate nor to be a general waiver of the benefit of any such 
covenant or condition.

(15) The receipt of any rent or other money by or on the part of the Commissioner of Guyana Geology and 
Mines Commission shall not be construed as a waiver of any antecedent or then subsisting breach of any of the 
covenants or agreements on the part of the Licensee herein contained or implied or of any rights or remedies of 
the Minister by virtue of or in connection with any such breach.

(16) If a renewal is sought during this Prospecting Licence, the Licensee shall at least three months prior to the 
anniversary of the grant, submit to the Commission a recommended Work Programme for the Area and the 
relevant budget for the twelve (12) month period commencing on the Anniversary date immediately follow-
ing the Work Programme and budget. Each Work Programme budget submitted by the Licensee shall contain 
detailed specification of:

(a) the methodical approach the Licensee will adopt; and

(b) an identification of the part or parts of the Area to be involved in each group of operations; and

(c) the period in respect of the said Work Programme.

Should the Commission need clarification on specific features of the said Work Programme and budget or wish 
to propose some revision, it shall within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof inform the Licensee, specifying 
in reasonable detail its reasons thereof, and the Licensee shall promptly meet with the Commission in order 
to discuss the Commission’s comments and attempt to reach an agreement on the revision proposed by the 
Commission.

(17) Notwithstanding anything above mentioned in the Licence, the Licensee shall spend during the first year 
of this Licence no less than US$150,000.00 (one hundred and fifty thousand United States dollars) in the 
execution of the Work Programme submitted. During the ensuing years of this Prospecting Licence the Licensee 
shall spend such sums as approved by the Commission.
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(18) To ensure that the Licensee complies with the terms of the budget and Work Programme it has submitted 
and its other obligations under this Licence, the Licensee shall annually post a performance bond, or other 
acceptable guarantee, in favour of the Commission with an approved bank in Guyana. The guarantee shall be 
for a sum that is equal to 20% (twenty percent) of the approved budget for each year, such performance bond 
having been posted prior to the issuance of this Licence in a form acceptable to the Commission. Thereafter the 
remaining guarantee shall be executed on or before the anniversary of the granting of this Prospecting Licence. 

Granted this 29th day of June, 2004, at Georgetown, Guyana.

Signed “David Bacchus”
Chairman, Guyana Geology and Mines Commission

I (We) accept the above Prospecting Licence on the terms and conditions therein stated.

Licensee: GUYANA GOLDFIELDS INC.

By: Director: Signed “J. Patrick Sheridan”

Secretary: Signed “Rory Calhoun”

Recorded this 29th day of June, 2004

Commissioner, Guyana Geology & Mines Commission

ANNEX I

(CARTOGRAPHIC DESCRIPTION OF AREA)

A tract of State Land situated in Cuyuni, Mining District No. 4, enclosing Gold River. Located on Terra 
Surveys Topographic Sheets 17 NW, 17 NE and 17 SE, at Scale 1:50,000. From a reference point ‘X’ located with 
geographical co-ordinates of latitude 6°47’10”N; longitude 59°42’05”W and situate at the confluence of the 
Cuyuni River and Gold River; thence going upriver for a distance of approximately 1 mile 704 yds. to point of 
commence, ‘A’, located with true geographical co-ordinates of latitude 06°47’32”N; longitude 59°43’17”W; 
thence at a true bearing of 135° for a distance of approximately 3 miles to point ‘B’, located with true 
geographical coordinates of latitude 06°45’38”N; longitude 59°41’24”W; thence at a true bearing of 180° for 
a distance of approximately 3 miles to point ‘C’, with geographical co-ordinates of latitude 06°43’03”N; longi-
tude 59°41 ‘24”W; thence at a true bearing of 270° for a distance of approximately 2 miles, crossing the Gold 
River to point ‘0’, located with true geographical co-ordinates of latitude 06°43’03”N; longitude 59°43’08”W; 
thence at a true bearing of 315° for a distance of approximately 6 miles to point ‘E’, located with geographical 
co-ordinates of latitude 06°46’40”N; longitude 59°46’54”W; thence at a true bearing of 0° for a distance of 
approximately 1 miles 1,513 yds. to point ‘F’ on the right bank of the Cuyuni River, located with approximate 
geographical co-ordinates of latitude 06°48’15”N; longitude 59°46’54”W; thence going downriver along the 
right bank of the Cuyuni River for a distance of approximately 4 miles 633 yds. to the point of commence ‘A’, 
thus enclosing approximately 14,131.2 acres, save and except all lands lawfully held or occupied.
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Consolidated Financial Statements (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
Years Ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Guyana Goldfields Inc. (an exploration stage 
entity) were prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of 
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management has established systems of internal control over the financial reporting process that are designed 
to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements 
together with other financial information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its finan-
cial 
reporting responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. 
The Audit Committee meets with management as well as with the independent auditors to review 
the internal controls over the financial reporting process, the consolidated financial statements together 
with other financial information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of 
Directors for its consideration in approving the consolidated financial statements together with other financial 
information of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.

Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established 
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for 
its activities.

/s/ J. Patrick Sheridan  Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Carmelo Marrelli Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Canada
January 8, 2010
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Consolidated Balance Sheets (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

As at October 31,  2009  2008

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 22,579,531  $ 13,948,967

Short-term investments (Note 7)  818,560  2,031,941

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses  626,109  679,264

Restricted cash (Note 6)  113,740  -

  24,137,940  16,660,172

Investment in Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (Note 8)  406,210  484,540

Equipment (Note 9)  14,064  2,857

Mineral exploration properties (Note 10)  55,972,018  40,471,187

  $ 80,530,232  $ 57,618,756

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 15)  $ 1,970,629  $ 2,179,476

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (Note 11)  88,404,924  64,466,917

Warrants (Note 12)  6,027,715  2,694,890

Stock options (Note 13)  9,815,762  11,548,313

Contributed surplus  4,268,863  -

Deficit   (29,957,661)  (23,270,840)

  78,559,603  55,439,280

  $ 80,530,232   $57,618,756

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Nature of operations (Note 1)
Contingencies (Note 16)
Commitments (Note 17)
Subsequent event (Note 18)

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

 “J. Patrick Sheridan”  “Alan Ferry”
 Director Director
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Years ended October 31,  2009  2008

Operating expenses

Amortization   $ 1,978  $ 504

Loss (gain) on foreign exchange  428,293  (1,187,266)

Management and consulting fees (Note 15)  527,928  177,720

Office   1,091,376  395,787

Professional fees  514,472  341,121

Shareholder information  81,077  69,715

Stock-based compensation (Note 13)  2,562,871  2,329,533

Transfer, listing and filing fees  87,128  87,454

Loss before the undernoted  (5,295,123)  (2,214,568)

Other (expense) income

Capital and other taxes  (348,738)  (45,831)

Gain on sale of short-term investments  -  693,772

Interest   211,080  747,414

Mineral exploration properties recovery (Note 10)  -  325,000

Share of Guyana Precious Metals Inc. net loss (Note 8)  (1,328,330)  (763,957)

Write-down of equity investment in
Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (Note 8)  -  (3,354,633)

Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments  127,830  (4,748,570)

Write-down of mineral exploration properties (Note 10)  (53,540)  (3,136,990)

  (1,391,698)  (10,283,795)

Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (6,686,821)  $ (12,498,363)

Net loss per share

Basic   $ (0.11)  $ (0.24)

Diluted   $ (0.11)  $ (0.24)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic   59,593,495  51,605,312

Diluted   59,593,495  51,605,312

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
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 Share 
Warrants

 Stock Contributed 
Deficit  Total capital  options surplus

Balance, 
$ 64,466,917  $ 2,694,890  $ 11,548,313 $ - $(23,270,840) $ 55,439,280

Oct. 31, 2008

Shares issued 
on non-brokered 
private placement 
(Note 11(iv))  

17,050,000  -  -  -  -  17,050,000

Value allocated
to warrants
(Note 11(iv)) 

 (3,373,214)  3,373,214  -  -  -  -

Share issue
expenses
(Note 11(iv)) 

 (163,002)  (40,389)  -  -  -  (203,391)

Shares issued
to acquire
Aranka Gold
Inc. (Note 3)  

7,329,095  -  -  -  -  7,329,095

Shares issued on
exercise of options  1,523,569  -  -  -  -  1,523,569

Value of options
exercised  1,276,559  -  (1,276,559)  -  -  -

Repayment of
share purchase
loans (Note 11(iii))  

295,000  -  -  -  -  295,000

Value of options
granted and vested
during the year  

-  -  2,104,504  -  -  2,104,504

Value of previously
issued options
vested during
the year  

-  -  458,367  -  -  458,367

Value of options
cancelled and
expired during
the year  

-  -  (3,018,863)  3,018,863  -  -

Gain on sale
of Coppermine
River Property  

-  -  -  1,250,000  -  1,250,000

Net loss for year  -  -  -  -  (6,686,821)  (6,686,821)

Balance,
Oct. 31, 2009  $ 88,404,924  $ 6,027,715  $ 9,815,762  $ 4,268,863  $(29,957,661)  $ 78,559,603

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 Share Warrants Stock Contributed 
Deficit  Total capital  options surplus

Balance, 
$ 62,676,137  $ 2,694,890  $ 11,013,176  $ 394,165  $ (9,954,158)  $ 66,824,210

Oct. 31, 2007

Shares issued on
exercise of options  

2,108,000  -  -  -  -  2,108,000

Value of options
exercised 

1,279,530  -  (1,279,530)  -  -  -

Cancellation
of shares (1,301,750)  -  -  -  -  (1,301,750)
(Note 11(ii))

Value of options
granted during  -  -  1,555,977  -  -  1,555,977
the year  

Value of previously
issued options
vested during -  -  773,556  -  -  773,556

the year

Value of options
cancelled and
expired during -  -  (514,866)  514,866  -  -

the year 

Shares repurchased
in excess of average
cost during the 

 -  -  -  (909,031)  (818,319) (1,727,350)

(Note 11(ii))

Share purchase loans
(Note 11(iii)) (295,000)  -  -  -  -  (295,000)

Net loss for year  -  -  -  -  (12,498,363)  (12,498,363)

Balance,
Oct. 31, 2009 $ 64,466,917  $ 2,694,890  $ 11,548,313  -  $ (23,270,840)  $ 55,439,280

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Years ended October 31,  2009      2008

Cash (used in) provided by

Operations

Net loss   $ (6,686,821)  $ (12,498,363)

Items not involving cash

Amortization   1,978  504

Gain on sale of short-term investments  - (693,772)

Share of Guyana Precious Metals Inc. net loss (Note 8)  1,328,330  763,957

Stock-based compensation (Note 13)  2,562,871  2,329,533

Unrealized (gain) loss on short-term investments  (127,830)  4,748,570

Write-down of equity investment in
Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (Note 8)  -  3,354,633

Write-down of mineral exploration properties (Note 10)  53,540  3,136,990

Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses  53,155  (25,294)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (208,847)  117,899

  (3,023,624)  1,234,657

Financing

Proceeds from non-brokered private placement (Note 11(iv))  17,050,000  -

Share issue expenses (Note 11(iv))  (203,391)  -

Proceeds from exercise of stock options  1,523,569  2,108,000

Repayment of share purchase loans (Note 11(iii))  295,000  (295,000)

Repurchase of common shares  -  (3,029,100)

  $ 18,665,178  $ (1,216,100)

Investing

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments  $ 1,341,211 $ 1,333,247

Purchase of short-term investments  -  2,220,750)

Cash acquired from Aranka Gold Inc., net of costs (Note 3)  5,796,757  -

Purchase of equipment  (13,185)  (3,361)

Expenditures on mineral exploration properties  (14,022,033)  (10,128,179)

Recoveries on mineral exploration properties  -  158,579

  (6,897,250) (10,860,464)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  8,744,304  (10,841,907)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  13,948,967  24,790,874

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 22,693,271  $ 13,948,967

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash   $ 6,582,538  $ 6,544,218

Restricted cash  113,740  -

Cash equivalents  15,996,993  7,404,749

  $ 22,693,271  $ 13,948,967

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended October 31, 2009 and 2008

1. Nature of operations

Guyana Goldfields Inc. (the “Company” or “GGI”) was incorporated under the name Chiboug Copper 
Company Limited pursuant to the Quebec Mining Companies Act on January 24, 1953. On January 24, 1995, 
the Company changed its name to Guyana Goldfields Inc. During 2005, the Company continued under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company is an exploration stage entity engaged in the acquisition, 
|exploration, evaluation and development of principally gold resource properties in Guyana.

The Company is in the process of determining whether its mineral properties contain reserves that are 
economically recoverable. The recovery of amounts capitalized for mineral exploration properties in the 
consolidated balance sheets is dependant upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability 
of the Company to arrange appropriate financing to complete the development of the properties and upon future 
profitable production or proceeds from their disposition.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries: Aranka Gold Inc. (“Aranka” incorporated in Canada) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Aranka 
Gold (Barbados) Inc. (incorporated in Barbados) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Aranka Gold (Guyana) Inc. 
(incorporated in Guyana), Coppercorp Inc. (“Coppercorp” incorporated in Canada), Guygold (Barbados) Inc. 
(incorporated in Barbados), and GuyGold Inc. (incorporated in Guyana). These consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). All references to the Company should be treated as references to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue 
and expenses during the year. The most significant estimates and assumptions include the value of the mineral 
exploration properties, the valuation of stock based compensation and other stock based payments, the 
valuation of warrants, and determination of future income tax liabilities. Actual results could differ materially 
from those estimates. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable.

Financial instruments and comprehensive income (loss)

All financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading, held to maturity, 
loans and receivables, available for sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, 
including derivatives, are measured in the balance sheet at fair value except for loans and receivables, held to 
maturity investments and other financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Subsequent measurement and changes in fair value will depend on their initial classification, 
as follows: held for trading financial assets are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized 
in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise; available for sale financial instruments are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other comprehensive income until the investment 
is de recognized or impaired at which time the amounts would be recorded in the statement of operations.

The Company has made the following classifications:

Cash and cash equivalents   Held for trading
Short-term investments   Held for trading
Restricted cash    Held for trading
Accounts receivable    Loans and Receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Other liabilities
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Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified as held for trading. For other 
financial instruments, transaction costs are expensed on initial recognition. The Company accounts for regular 
purchases and sales of financial assets using trade date accounting.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks, including guaranteed investment 
certificates with maturity dates of 3 months or less or which are cashable without penalty.

Restricted cash
Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is presented as restricted cash.

Investment in Guyana Precious Metals Inc.

The Company accounts for its investment in Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (formerly Coronation Minerals 
Inc.) (“Guyana Precious”) using the equity accounting method to the extent that the Company has significant 
influence over the investee’s strategic operating, financing and investing policies. Under the equity method, the 
Company’s proportionate share of income or loss is included in the statement of operations and any dividends 
received are recorded as a reduction to the investment. The carrying value of the investment is periodically 
reviewed to ensure that there is no permanent impairment.

Mineral exploration properties

The Company records its interest in mineral exploration properties at cost. Direct costs relating to the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral exploration properties, less recoveries, are deferred 
until such time as the properties are either put into commercial production, sold, determined not to be 
economically viable or abandoned. If the property is placed into production, deferred costs would be amortized 
over the estimated life of the mineral property. The deferred costs would be written off if the property is sold 
or abandoned. If it is determined that the carrying value of a property exceeds its net recoverable amount as 
estimated by management, or exceeds the selling value of the property, a provision is made for the decline in 
value and charged against operations in the year of determination of value. General exploration costs which 
are not directly attributable to specific properties are expensed as incurred.

The amounts shown for mineral exploration properties represent costs incurred to date, less write-offs and 
recoveries, and do not necessarily reflect present or future values of the particular properties.

Equipment

Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is recorded on the declining balance 
basis at 30% per annum.

Impairment of long lived assets

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of its long lived assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognized when estimated future cash flows resulting from the use of an asset and its eventual disposition is 
less than its carrying amount. The recoverability of costs incurred on mineral exploration properties is dependent 
upon numerous factors including exploration results, environmental risks, commodity risks, political risks, and 
the Company’s ability to obtain profitable production.

Asset retirement obligations

The Company is subject to the provisions of CICA Handbook Section 3110, Asset Retirement Obligations, which 
require the estimated fair value of any asset retirement obligations to be recognized as a liability in the period in 
which the related environmental disturbance occurs and the present value of the associated future costs can be 
reasonably estimated. As of October 31, 2009 and 2008 the Company has not incurred and is not committed to 
any asset retirement obligations in respect of its mineral exploration properties.
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Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under this 
method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial 
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and 
laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to be reversed. Future income taxes are recorded 
to recognize tax benefits only to the extent that, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that they 
will be realized.

Foreign currency translation

The Company translates monetary assets and liabilities at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet 
date and non monetary assets and liabilities at historical exchange rates. Income and expenses are translated at 
average rates in the month they occurred. Gains and losses on translation are recorded in loss from operations.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. The diluted loss per share gives effect to the exercise of any option 
or warrant for which the exercise price is lower than the average market price during the year using the 
treasury stock method. For the year ended October 31, 2009, the weighted average shares outstanding for 
purposes of calculating diluted loss per share would be 66,437,588 (2008 - 53,253,464) if the effects were not 
anti-dilutive.

Revenue recognition

Interest income derived from cash and cash equivalents and other investments is recognized using the effective 
interest rate method.

Realized gains and losses on disposal of short-term investments and unrealized gains and losses in the value of 
short-term investments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and 
are calculated on an average cost basis.

Stock-based compensation

The Company uses the fair value method to account for stock options granted. Under the fair value method, the 
Company recognizes estimated compensation expense related to stock options over the vesting period of the op-
tions granted, with the related credit being allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity. Upon exercise 
of these stock options, amounts previously credited to stock options under shareholders’ equity are reversed and 
credited to share capital. Upon cancellation and expiry of these stock options, amounts previously credited to 
stock options under shareholders’ equity are reversed and credited to contributed surplus.

Other stock-based payments

The Company accounts for other stock-based payments based on the fair value of services granted or the equity 
instruments issued in exchange for the receipt of goods and services from non employees by using the stock price 
and other measurement assumptions as at the measurement date, whichever is the more reliably measured.

Amendments to section 1400 – general standards of financial statement presentation

In June 2007, the CICA amended Handbook Section 1400, Going Concern, to include additional requirements 
to assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Section 1400 is effective for interim and 
annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2008. The adoption of this 
standard had no impact on the Company’s presentation of its financial position or results of operations for the 
year ended October 31, 2009.
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Goodwill and intangible assets

Effective November 1, 2008, the Company adopted CICA section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which 
replaced CICA Handbook sections 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and 3450, Research and 
Development Costs, as well as EIC-27, Revenues and Expenditures During the Pre-operating Period, and part 
of Accounting Guideline 11, Enterprises in the development stage. The objectives of CICA section 3064 are: 1) 
to reinforce the principle-based approach to the recognition of assets; 2) to establish the criteria for asset 
recognition and; 3) to clarify the application of the concept of matching revenues and expenses such that 
the current practice of recognizing assets that do not meet the recognition criteria is eliminated. The new 
standard also provides guidance for the recognition of internally developed intangible assets (including research 
and development activities), ensuring consistent treatment of all intangible assets. The portions in the new 
standard relating to goodwill remain unchanged. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company’s 
presentation of its financial position or results of operations for the year ended October 31, 2009.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In January 2006, the CICA’s Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) formally adopted the strategy of replacing 
Canadian GAAP with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for Canadian enterprises with public 
accountability. On February 13, 2008, the AcSB confirmed that the use of IFRS would be required in 2011 for 
publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises. For these entities, IFRS will be required for interim and annual 
financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company will be required 
to have prepared, in time for its first quarter of fiscal 2012 filing, comparative financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS for the three months ended January 31, 2011. While the Company has begun assessing the impact of 
the adoption of IFRS on its consolidated financial statements, the financial reporting impact of the transition t 
IFRS cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

The CICA issued three new accounting standards in January 2009: Section 1582, Business Combinations, 
Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements and Section 1602, Non-Controlling Interests. These new 
standards will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Section 1582 replaces 
section 1581 and establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian 
equivalent to IFRS 3 - Business Combinations. Sections 1601 and 1602 together replace section 1600, 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements. Section 1602 establishes standards for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a 
subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. It is equivalent to the 
corresponding provisions of lAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The Company is in the 
process of evaluating the requirements of the new standards.

3. Business acquisition

On January 28, 2009, GGI completed the acquisition of Aranka pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement (the 
“Arrangement”) completed under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario).

Pursuant to the Arrangement, the former shareholders of Aranka received an aggregate of 7,796,910 common 
shares of GGI in exchange for their Aranka common shares at an exchange basis of one common share of GGI 
for every 3.25 common shares of Aranka. In addition, all of the outstanding 1,700,000 stock options of Aranka 
were cancelled and the stock option plan was terminated. The common shares of GGI acquired by the former 
shareholders of Aranka had a fair value of $0.94 per GGI share.

This acquisition has been treated as a business combination using the purchase method of accounting. 
Under this method, Aranka’s earnings are included in the consolidated Company’s earnings from the date of 
acquisition. The purchase cost was allocated to the underlying assets acquired based on their fair values at the 
date of acquisition. The carrying value of the assets acquired exceeded the purchase consideration by $639,369, 
which was applied to decrease the carrying value of the Aranka Properties. The decrease will not affect the value 
of the underlying assets for tax purposes, resulting in a temporary difference between accounting and tax values. 
The resulting future tax assets has not been recorded, as it is not more likely than not that it will be realized. 
Details of the acquisition are summarized below:
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Purchase price

7,796,910 common shares issued in exchange for

25,343,556 Aranka common shares outstanding   $ 7,329,095

Transaction costs   316,209

   $ 7,645,304

Fair value of net assets acquired

Current assets (including cash of $5,796,757)   $ 6,164,498

Aranka Property (Note 10)   1,532,335

Langis Mine (Note 10)   1

   7,696,834

Less: current liabilities   (51,530)

   $ 7,645,304

4. Capital management

The Company defines capital that it manages as its shareholders equity. When managing capital, the 
Company’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to achieve optimal returns 
to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management adjusts the capital structure as necessary in 
order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management team to sustain the future development of the business. As at October 31, 2009, total 
shareholders’ equity (managed capital) was $78,559,603 (October 31, 2008 - $55,439,280).

The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration or feasibility stage. As 
such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out its planned 
exploration programs and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and 
raise additional amounts as needed.

In light of the above, the Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in 
additional properties if it believes there is sufficient potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do 
so. 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is appropriate. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended October 31, 2009.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Company believes that its 
current capital resources will be sufficient to discharge its liabilities as at October 31, 2009.

5. Financial instruments

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, market risk (including interest rate, 
foreign exchange rate and price risk) and credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from the Audit Committee 
under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular guidance for 
overall risk management.

(a) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or as a result of conditions specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from 
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its financing activities and interest income earned on its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. 
The Company has cash and cash equivalents of $22,579,531 (October 31, 2008 - $13,948,967) to settle current 
liabilities of $1,970,629 (October 31, 2008 - $2,179,476). The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to 
ensure preservation and security of capital as well as maintenance of liquidity.

All of the Company’s financial liabilities are subject to normal trade terms.

(b) Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will significantly fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial instruments can be affected 
by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. In the normal course of business, the 
Company is exposed to market risks as a result of its investments in publicly traded companies. During periods 
of significant broader market volatility or volatility experienced by the resource/commodity markets, the value of 
the Company’s investment portfolio can be vulnerable to market fluctuations. Sensitivity to a plus or minus 10% 
change in the bid price of the Company’s investments in public companies with all other variables held constant 
as at October 31, 2009, would affect net loss and comprehensive loss by approximately $82,000.

(b) (continued) Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s functional currency 
is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in Canadian dollars. The Company funds certain 
operations, exploration and administrative expenses in Guyana on a cash call basis using US dollars converted 
from its Canadian dollar bank accounts held in Canada. The Company maintains US dollar bank accounts in 
Canada, Barbados and Guyana and Guyanese bank accounts in Guyana. The Company is subject to gains and 
losses due to fluctuations in the US and Guyanese dollar against the Canadian dollar. Sensitivity to a plus or 
minus 10% change in all foreign currencies (Guyanese and US dollars) against the Canadian dollar with 
all other variables held constant as at October 31, 2009, would affect net loss and comprehensive loss by 
approximately $30,000.

Interest rate risk is the impact that changes in interest rates could have on the Company’s earnings and assets. 
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations as a result of cash 
equivalents being invested in interest-bearing instruments. Interest rate risk is minimal as the Company’s 
interestbearing instruments have fixed interest rates.

(c) Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts 
receivable. The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash are held with reputable financial institutions, from which management believes 
the risk of loss to be minimal. Accounts receivable include accrued interest and deposits held with consultants 
and other service providers; $359,838 represents the maximum credit exposure (October 31, 2008 - $319,852). 
Accounts receivable are in good standing as of October 31, 2009. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to accounts receivable is minimal.

9d) Fair value

As at October 31, 2009, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s financial instruments were 
approximately equivalent.

6. Restricted cash

The Company has an outstanding letter of guarantee in the amount of $113,740 (US$105,130) (October 31, 
2008 - $nil) that is required under the regulations prescribed by the Guyana Geology and Mines Commission 
(“GGMC”) for Prospecting Licenses issued to the Company and its subsidiaries.
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7. Short-term investments
Short-term investments are composed of:

  2009  2008

Short-term guaranteed deposits, expiry date greater than 3 months  $ -  $ 1,341,211

Marketable securities, at cost  3,205,917  3,205,917

Unrealized loss  (2,387,357)  (2,515,187)

Total   $ 818,560  $ 2,031,941

Marketable securities consisted of the following as at Oct. 31, 2009:

Security name  Security description Cost  Fair value

Duncan Park Holdings Corp. 32,500 common shares  $ 25,427 $ 650

Gold Port Resources Ltd. 4,046,000 common shares  1,683,290  343,910

Northern Platinum Ltd. 600,000 common shares  361,400  138,000

Temex Resources Corp.  1,200,000 common shares  235,800  186,000

White Pine Resources Inc.  500,000 common shares  900,000  150,000

  $ 3,205,917  $ 818,560

Marketable securities consisted of the following as at Oct. 31, 2008:

Security name  Security description  Cost  Fair value

Duncan Park Holdings Corp.  32,500 common shares  $ 25,427  $ 650

Gold Port Resources Ltd.  4,046,000 common shares  1,683,290  223,080

Northern Platinum Ltd.  600,000 common shares  361,400  102,000

Temex Resources Corp.  1,200,000 common shares  235,800  90,000

White Pine Resources Inc.  500,000 common shares  900,000  275,000

  $ 3,205,917  $ 690,730

Short-term investments have been designated as held-for-trading and are recorded at fair value using the last bid 
price. Unrealized gains and losses are reported in operations.

8. Investment in Guyana Precious Metals Inc. (Formerly Coronation Minerals Inc.)

(a) On November 6, 2008, Guyana Precious acquired the remaining 50% interest of the Coppermine River 
Project. Guyana Precious issued 5,000,000 common shares to the Company. The Company valued the common 
shares received from Guyana Precious at $1,250,000 and recorded a gain of $1,250,000 on the disposition of 
the remaining 50% interest of the Coppermine River Project.

This transaction is a related party transaction and therefore has been recorded at the carrying value of the prop-
erty of $nil. The excess consideration received over the value of the property of $1,250,000 has been recorded 
as contributed surplus.

Along with previously owned 12,113,500 common shares, the Company holds 17,113,500 common shares of 
Guyana Precious representing approximately a 16% interest in the issued and outstanding common shares of  
Guyana Precious.

(b) The fair market value of the Company’s investment in Guyana Precious as at October 31, 2009, is $2,652,593 
(October 31, 2008 - $484,540).

(c) A summary of the status of the Company’s investment in Guyana Precious as at October 31, 2009 and 2008, 
and changes during the periods then ended is presented below:
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 2009 2008

Equity accounted investment - carrying value, beginning of year 484,540 $ -

Conversion of  investment in Guyana Precious to an equity accounted investment - 4,603,130

Acquisition of equity  accounted investment  (Note 8(a)) 1,250,000 - 

Write-down of  Guyana Precious - (3,354,633)

Share of loss  recognized (1,328,330) (763,957)

Equity accounted  investment - carrying value, end of year $ 406,210 $ 484,540

9. Equipment

October 31, 2009

  Accumulated  Net Book
 Cost  Amortization Value

Computer equipment $ 16,546  $ 2,482  $ 14,064

October 31, 2009

  Accumulated  Net Book
 Cost  Amortization Value

Computer equipment $ 3,361 $ 504 $ 2,857

10. Mineral exploration properties

 Opening    Closing
October 31, 2009 Balance  Additions  Write-down  Balance

Guyana, South America

Peters Mine Property $ 1  $ -  $ -  $ 1

Aurora Mine Property  36,781,690  12,982,438  (53,540)  49,710,588

Aranka Properties 3,689,496  2,571,932  -  6,261,428

 40,471,187  15,554,370  (53,540)  55,972,017

Ontario, Canada

Langis Mine -  1  - 1

 $ 40,471,187  $15,554,371  $ (53,540)  $ 55,972,018

 Opening  Additions   Closing
October 31, 2008  Balance  (Recoveries)  Write-down  Balance

Guyana, South America

Peters Mine Property  $ 3,029,679  $ (8,483)  $ (3,021,195)  $ 1

Aurora Mine Property  28,637,939  8,143,751  -  36,781,690

Aranka Properties  2,698,999  1,106,292  (115,795)  3,689,496

 $ 34,366,617  $ 9,241,560  $ (3,136,990) $ 40,471,187
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Peters Mine Property

The Company has acquired 100% of the mineral exploration rights to the Peters Mine Property (subject to a 
net smelter royalty of up to 5% payable to, and determined at the discretion of, the GGMC) pursuant to the 
Prospecting License. The Prospecting License is registered in the name of 832528 Ontario Inc. (“832528”), 
a corporation wholly owned by the President of the Company, Mr. Patrick Sheridan; however, all beneficial 
interest therein is held by the Company in accordance with an agreement dated May 20, 1996 between the 
Company and 832528.

On November 17, 2006, the Company entered into an option agreement with White Pine Resources Inc. 
(formerly WSR Gold Inc. and Westchester Resources Inc.) (“WPR”) effective as of October 19, 2006, whereby 
WPR could have earned a 50% interest in the Company’s Peters Mine property. This option agreement was 
terminated in 2008.

During the year ended October 31, 2008, pursuant to WPR giving notice to terminate the Peters Mine option 
agreement, the Company decided to cease exploration activities on the Peter’s Mine property and place the 
property under care and maintenance. As a result, the Company decided to abandon the property and to write 
off all expenditures on the property.

Aurora Mine Property

The Company has acquired 100% of the mineral exploration rights to the Aurora Mine Property pursuant to 
an agreement dated May 20, 1998 between the Company and Alfro Alphonso (“Alphonso”). In accordance 
with this agreement, the Company is required to make annual advance royalty payments to Alphonso in the 
aggregate of US $225,000 per year (the “Advance Royalty Payments”) during the three year period following 
the commencement of commercial production. The Company is also required to pay a net smelter royalty of 
2% to Alphonso (against which all Advance Royalty Payments shall be credited) upon the later to occur of (a) 
commencement of commercial production; and (b) the earlier of (i) the date which is three and one half years 
following commencement of commercial production on the Aurora Mine Property; and (ii) reimbursement to 
the Company of all expenditures incurred in commencing commercial production on the Aurora Mine Property. 
The Company’s mineral exploration right in the Aurora Mine Property is also subject to an additional net smelter 
royalty (“NSR”) of up to 5% payable to, and determined at the discretion of, the GGMC.

In March 2004, the agreement with Alphonso was amended. In lieu of Alphonso’s interest and rights to advances 
in and to production royalty and net smelter royalty, the Company agreed to pay Alphonso an annual fee of US 
$100,000, payable on January 2 each year, up to a maximum of US $1,500,000. Such payments shall be due 
and payable for such period that the Company maintains an interest in the property. As at October 31, 2009 total 
payments of $540,950 (US $500,000) have been made (October 31, 2008 - $481,800 (US $400,000)).

Coppermine River Property

The Coppermine River Property consists of approximately 75,747 acres of staked and leased claims and is 
located in the Coronation Gulf region of Nunavut, Canada. The Company originally acquired its interest in the 
leased claims comprising Coppermine River Property pursuant to a lease agreement dated September 14, 1999 
between the Company and Coppermine River Limited.

The Company’s interest in the Coppermine River Property consisted of a 100% mineral exploration right, subject 
to a 3% net smelter royalty in favour of Coppermine River Limited in respect of a portion of the Coppermine River 
Property consisting of 7,297 acres. The Company granted to Guyana Precious the right to earn 50% of its interest 
in the Coppermine River Property pursuant to an agreement dated August 12, 2002 between Guyana Precious 
and the Company (the “Guyana Precious Agreement”). In order to earn its interest in the Coppermine River Prop-
erty, Guyana Precious had to (i) expend at least $1,500,000 in exploration expenditures on the Coppermine Riv-
er Property over a three year period ending August 12, 2005; (ii) issue an aggregate of 6,000,000 common shares 
in the capital of Guyana Precious to the Company; and (iii) make aggregate cash payments totaling $300,000 to 
the Company over a two year period ending August 12, 2004. As at October 31, 2009, greater than $1,500,000 
in exploration expenditures have been made, $300,000 has been paid and 6,000,000 common shares in the 
capital of Guyana Precious have been issued to the Company pursuant to the Guyana Precious Agreement.
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Guyana Precious assumed responsibility for advance royalty payments amounting to $350,000 on the Copper-
mine River Property. The advance royalty payment had previously been accrued by the Company at $25,000 
per quarter from 2005 to June 2008. As at October 31, 2007, the Company had accrued $325,000 in advance 
royalty payments. The advanced royalty accrual was reversed in 2008.

On November 6, 2008, Guyana Precious acquired the remaining 50% interest of the Coppermine River 
Project. Guyana Precious issued 5,000,000 common shares to the Company (Note 8). The Company also re-
tained a 1.5% NSR over the unpatented claims only, and a right of first refusal to participate in future financings 
of Guyana Precious.

Aranka Properties

The Aranka district is comprised of properties known as the Arangoy target area, the Raskassa target area, the 
Wynamu/Kalaloo target area, the Imotai target area, the Minabaru target area, the Maple Creek/New Work-
ings target area and the Aranka (Red Hill) target area. The southern boundary of the Aranka district is located 
approximately eighteen miles ENE of the current base camp of the Company’s Aurora Mine Property.

On April 30, 2007, the Company and Aranka announced the exercise by the Company of a back-in agreement 
executed and delivered June 3, 2005. The back-in agreement entitled the Company to acquire a 50% interest 
in the above noted properties held by Aranka and with respect to any gold property acquired by Aranka in the 
country of Guyana by paying 125% of the total expenditures on the properties. The total expenditures on the 
properties amounted to $2,037,767 on May 7, 2007, the date the exercise of the back-in right received requisite 
regulatory approvals. The total amount, together with interest of $30,449 was paid by the Company on August 
27, 2007. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company pays 50% of exploration expenditures. From August 27 to 
October 31, 2007, the Company’s share of exploration expenditures was $630,783, for total exploration expen-
ditures of $2,698,999.

On January 15, 2008, Aranka announced it has entered into three option agreements to acquire mineral explora-
tion and development rights to a total of (approximately) 77,893 acres in three separate land packages.

The option agreements are outlined below:

Fish Creek/Pomeroon Head Property (60,759 acres)

Aranka may earn a 100% interest in the property by paying US $390,000 over a four year period. The vendors shall 
retain a 2% NSR and Aranka maintains the right to purchase the NSR for US$2,000,000. Due to disappointing 
results in July 2008, Aranka has decided to abandon the Fish Creek/Pomeroon Head Property.

Oko Group of Properties (8,000 acres)

Aranka may earn a 100% interest in the property by making annual payments totalling US $285,000 over a four 
year period. The vendor shall retain a 2% NSR and Aranka has the right to purchase the NSR for US $2,000,000. 
Due to disappointing results in July 2008, Aranka has decided to abandon the Oko Group of Properties.

A total writedown of $115,795 for both the Fish Creek/Pomeroon Head Property and Oko Group of Properties
was recorded during the prior year. This represents total expenditures to date. Aremu Mine Property (9,134 acres) 
Aranka shall have the option to acquire a 100% interest in ten mining permits (the “Mining Permits”) located on 
the right bank of the Aremu River in Guyana. As consideration, Aranka must pay an aggregate of $123,000,000 
Guyanese dollars (approximately US $600,000) and issue 50,000 common shares to the Optionors (issued and 
valued at $100,000). The Mining Permits are subject to a 2% NSR After acquiring 100% interest in the Mining 
Permits, Aranka has the option to purchase the entire NSR from the Optionors by making a further payment of 
$410,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $2,000,000).

On January 28, 2009, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the Aranka Properties as a result of 
its acquisition of Aranka. The Company now has a total interest of 100% in the Aranka Properties. Total Aranka 
Properties acquired by the Company during the year have an ascribed value of $1,532,335. (Note 3)
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On October 20, 2009, the Company acquired three continguous groups of properties.

Property “A” (29,000 acres)

The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property “A” by paying $54,000 (US $50,000) over three years to an 
unrelated third party. Property “A” is located in Guyana, South America. The vendor maintains a 1.5% NSR and 
the Company has the option to purchase the NSR at any time for $1,081,900 (US $1,000,000).

Property “B” (23,000 acres)

The Company may earn a 100% interest in Property “B” by paying $514,000 (US $475,000) over five years to an 
unrelated third party. Property “B” is located in Guyana, South America. The vendor shall maintain a 2% NSR, 
with the Company having an option to purchase the NSR at any time for $2,164,000 (US $2,000,000).

Property “C” (22,000 acres)

Property “C” was purchased for $42,000,000 Guyanese dollars (approximately US $200,000) from an unrelated 
third party. Property “C” is located in Guyana, South America. As at October 31, 2009, $20,000,000 Guyanese 
dollars (approximately US $95,000) has been paid. The remaining $22,000,000 Guyanese dollars is payable 
upon receipt of mining permits issued to the Company.

Langis Mine Property

On January 28, 2009, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Langis Mine as a result of its acquisition of 
Aranka. Total Langis Mine resource assets acquired by the Company during the period have an ascribed value 
of $1 (Note 3).

The Company owns a 100% interest in mineral rights to 25 claim units covering 388.87 hectares, and 132.33 
hectares of surface rights in Casey and Harris Townships, and Larder Lake Mining Division, Ontario. Eighteen of 
the claim units are contiguous and host the past-producing Langis Mine.

11. Share capital

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. The issued and outstanding 
common shares consist of the following:

  Number of
  Shares  

Amount

Balance, October 31, 2007  51,285,643  $ 62,676,137

Issued on exercise of options  844,500  2,108,000

Value of options exercised  -  1,279,530

Cancellation of shares (ii)  (1,025,000)  (1,301,750)

Share purchase loans (iii)  -  (295,000)

Balance, October 31, 2008  51,105,143  64,466,917

Shares issued to acquire Aranka (Note 3)  7,796,910  7,329,095

Shares issued for non-brokered private placement (iv) 6,200,000 17,050,000

Value allocated to warrants (iv)  -  (3,373,214)

Repayment of share purchase loans (iii)  -  295,000

Issued on exercise of options  654,450  1,523,569

Value of options exercised  -  1,276,559

Share issue expenses (iv)  -  (163,002)

Balance, October 31, 2009  65,756,503  $ 88,404,924
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(i) The Company’s amended and restated shareholder rights plan (the “Rights Plan”) was approved and 
confirmed by the shareholders of the Company on April 7, 2009. Such rights plan contains certain amended 
definitions, which GGI adopted in order to bring such Rights Plan in line with current Canadian corporate 
governance best practices by imposing greater limitations on the board’s discretion to interpret and administer 
the plan, and ensuring fair and equal treatment of shareholders.

(ii) During the 12 month period beginning on December 31, 2007 until December 30, 2008, the Company was 
allowed to purchase on the Toronto Stock Exchange up to 1,025,712 common shares of the Company. The price 
which the Company would pay for any such shares would be the market price at the time of acquisition. The 
actual number of common shares which could be purchased and the timing of any such purchases would be 
determined by the Company.

During the year ended October 31, 2008, the Company purchased, for cancellation, 1,025,000 common 
shares for total consideration of $3,029,100. Of the $3,029,100 paid, $1,301,750 was charged to share capital, 
$909,031 was charged to contributed surplus and $818,319 was charged to deficit.

(iii) During the year ended October 31, 2008, the Company loaned two consultants of the Company $295,000 
to exercise stock options of the Company. The loans were recorded as a reduction of share capital. The loans 
were unsecured, non interest bearing and due on demand. As at October 31, 2008, the amount of the share 
purchase loans was $295,000. As at June 10, 2009, the share purchase loans of $295,000 from the two 
consultants were repaid in full.

(iv) The Company completed a non-brokered private placement (the “Offering”) in two tranches on June 3, 2009, 
and June 9, 2009, pursuant to which it issued an aggregate of 6,200,000 units at a price of $2.75 per unit to 
raise aggregate gross proceeds of $17,050,000. Each unit consisted of one common share of the Company and 
one half of one common share purchase warrant, each whole such warrant (a “Warrant”) entitling the holder to 
acquire one additional common share of the Company at a price of $4.00 for a period of three years from 
closing. If, however, following June 3, 2010, the closing price of the Company’s common shares exceeds $6.00 
for 30 consecutive trading days, then the warrant term shall be automatically reduced and the warrants will 
expire on the date that is 60 days following either the issuance of a press release or the provision to the 
holders of the warrants of written notice announcing the reduced warrant term, all in accordance with the terms 
of the certificates representing the warrants. From the total compensation received, $3,373,214 was assigned to 
warrants, according to the estimated fair value. Share issue expenses for the non-brokered private placement 
amounted to $203,391, of which $40,389 was assigned to warrants and $163,002 to share capital.

The securities issued in connection with the first tranche of the non brokered private placement (4,472,727 units) 
have a hold period expiring on October 4, 2009. The securities issued in connection with the second tranche of 
the non brokered private placement (1,727,273 units) have a hold period expiring on October 10, 2009.

12. Warrants

The following table shows the continuity of warrants during the year:

  Number of  Allocated  Average
  Warrants  Value  Exercise Price

Balance, October 31, 2007 and 2008  1,730,000  $ 2,694,890  $ 4.40

Granted (Note 11(iv))  3,100,000  3,373,214  4.00

Share issue expenses (Note 11(iv))  -  (40,389)  -

Balance, October 31, 2009  4,830,000  $ 6,027,715  $ 4.14

The fair value of the warrants granted during the year was estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model 
with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 77.38% to 77.56% volatility; risk-free interest rate 
of 1.74% to 1.97% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%.
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The following are the warrants outstanding as at October 31, 2009:

Number of Warrants  Fair Value  Exercise Price  Expiry Date

1,730,000   $ 2,694,890 $ 4.40  March 8, 2011

2,236,365 (1)   2,422,099 4.00  June 3, 2012

863,635 (1)   951,115 4.00  June 9, 2012

-   (40,389) -  Share issue expenses

4,830,000   $ 6,027,715 $ 4.14

(1) Subsequent to June 3, 2010, if the closing price of the Company’s common shares exceeds $6.00 for 30 
consecutive trading days, then the warrant term will be automatically reduced and the warrants will expire on 
the date that is 60 days following either the issuance of a press release or the provision to the holders of the war-
rants of written notice announcing the reduced warrant term, all in accordance with the terms of the certificates 
representing the warrants.

13. Stock options

The Company’s stock option plan was approved by the shareholders of the Company on April 7, 2009, for the 
purpose of attracting, retaining and motivating service providers by providing them an opportunity, through 
share options, to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company and benefit from its growth. The number of stock 
options that may be granted under the plan is limited to not more than 10% of the issued common shares of the 
Company at the time of the stock option grant. The exercise price of stock options granted in accordance with 
the plan will be not less than the closing price of the common shares on the trading day immediately prior to 
the effective date of grant.

The following table shows the continuity of stock options during the year:

 Number of Allocated Value of  Weighted Average
 Options  Vested Options  Exercise Price

Balance, October 31, 2007  4,177,950  $ 11,013,176  $ 3.93

Granted (i)(ii)(iii)  565,000  1,555,977  5.77

Value of options vested
during the year  -  773,556  -

Exercised  (844,500) (1,279,530 2.50

Cancelled and expired  (132,000)  (514,866)  5.39

Balance, October 31, 2008  3,766,450  11,548,313  4.47

Granted (iv) to (xiv)  3,270,000  2,104,504  3.26

Value of options vested
during the year  -  458,367  -

Exercised  (654,450)  (1,276,559)  2.33

Cancelled and expired  (512,000)  (3,018,863)  8.20

Balance, October 31, 2009  5,870,000  $ 9,815,762  $ 3.71
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The following are the stock options outstanding as at October 31, 2009:

 Options Exercise  Remaining Contractual Options ExerciseExpiry Date Outstanding Price Life (Yrs)  Exercisable  Price

February 1, 2010  280,000 $  2.02  0.25  280,000 $  2.02

April 28, 2010  525,000 $ 2.00  0.49 525,000 $  2.00

November 21, 2010  500,000 $  3.30  1.06  500,000 $  3.30

November 29, 2010  50,000 $  3.62  1.08  50,000 $  3.62

January 24, 2011  335,000 $  3.70  1.23  335,000  $ 3.70

May 29, 2011  100,000  $ 8.03  1.58  100,000 $  8.03

June 19, 2011  250,000 $  7.24  1.63  250,000 $  7.24

October 16, 2011  30,000 $  9.06  1.96  30,000 $  9.06

October 23, 2011 (xiii)  50,000 $  5.40  1.98  12,500 $  5.40

November 14, 2011  125,000 $  11.10  2.04  125,000 $  11.10

April 9, 2012 (vi) 200,000 $  3.09  2.44  100,000 $  3.09

May 1, 2012 (vii)  730,000 $  2.75  2.50  175,000 $  2.75

June 23, 2012 (viii)  60,000 $  3.50  2.64  15,000 $  3.50

July 13, 2012 (ix)  30,000 $  3.37 2.70  7,500 $  3.37

August 19, 2012 (x) 100,000 $  4.00 2.80  25,000 $  4.00

August 25, 2012 (xi)  275,000 $  4.54  2.82  68,750 $  4.54

April 14, 2013 (ii)  250,000 $  6.65  3.45  250,000 $  6.65

August 26, 2013 (iii)  165,000 $  3.18  3.82  82,500 $  3.18

February 27, 2014 (iv)  750,000 $  2.69  4.32  250,000  $ 2.69

April 8, 2014 (v)  650,000 $  3.03  4.44  325,000 $  3.03

September 29, 2014 (xii)  375,000 $  4.19  4.91  93,750 $  4.91

October 23, 2014 (xiv)  40,000 $  5.40  4.98  10,000 $  5.40

 5,870,000   2.65  3,610,000

(i) On November 21, 2007, the Company granted 50,000 options to acquire 50,000 shares of the Company to a 
consultant at a price of $8.14 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of grant was estimated using
the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 71% volatility; risk 
free interest rate of 3.76% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these options was
$249,400 which is expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive (loss) income with a corre-
sponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. These options 
were vested as follow: 25% immediately and 25% after 6, 12 and 18 months.

(ii) On April 14, 2008, the Company granted 350,000 options to acquire 350,000 shares of the Company to 
directors and officers of the Company at a price of $6.65 per share. The fair value of these options at the date 
of grant was estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year 
expected term; 73% volatility; risk free interest rate of 3.00% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair 
value assigned to these options was $1,428,000 which is expensed to the statement of operations and compre-
hensive (loss) income with a corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the 
options are vested. These options were vested 100% at the issuance date.

(iii) On August 26, 2008, the Company issued 165,000 stock options to the Chief Financial Officer and a 
consultant of the Company at a price of $3.18. The fair value of these options at the date of grant was 
estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 82% 
volatility; risk free interest rate of 3.12% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $349,800 which is expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive (loss) income with 
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a corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. These 
options were vested as follow: 25% after 6, 12, 18 and 24 months.

(iv) On February 27, 2009, the Company granted 750,000 options to acquire 750,000 shares of the 
Company to the President at a price of $2.69 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was 
estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 
86% volatility; risk-free interest rate of 2.10% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to 
these options was $1,371,000, which is expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 33.33% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(v) On April 8, 2009, the Company granted 650,000 options to acquire 650,000 shares of the Company to the 
Chief Executive Officer at a price of $3.03 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was 
estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 
85% volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.86% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to 
these options was $1,331,200, which is expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(vi) On April 9, 2009, the Company granted 200,000 options to acquire 200,000 shares of the Company to 
directors at a price of $3.09 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was estimated using 
the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 80% volatility; 
riskfree interest rate of 1.38% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these options was 
$324,000, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a corresponding 
amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting of these options 
is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(vii) On May 1, 2009, the Company granted 740,000 options to acquire 740,000 shares of the Company to 
officers, directors and consultants at a price of $2.75 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of 
the grant was estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year 
expected term; 78% volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.40% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair 
value assigned to these options was $1,044,140, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and 
comprehensive loss with a corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the
options are vested. Vesting of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months. On 
June 29, 2009, 10,000 options were exercised for cash proceeds of $27,500.

(viii) On June 23, 2009, the Company granted 60,000 options to acquire 60,000 shares of the Company to 
consultants at a price of $3.50 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was estimated 
using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 77% 
volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.85% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $106,440, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(ix) On July 13, 2009, the Company granted 30,000 options to acquire 30,000 shares of the Company to an 
employee at a price of $3.37 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was estimated 
using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 77% 
volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.80% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $51,150, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(x) On August 19, 2009, the Company granted 100,000 options to acquire 100,000 shares of the Company to 
a consultant at a price of $4.00 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was estimated 
using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 77% 
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volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.78% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $193,400, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. The stock 
options expire on August 19, 2012, and vest 25,000 immediately, 25,000 on February 19, 2010, and 50,000 on 
August 19, 2010, provided an extension and re-signing of the contact beyond 12 months has occurred.

(xi) On August 25, 2009, the Company granted 275,000 options to acquire 275,000 shares of the Company to 
a consultant at a price of $4.54 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was estimated 
using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a three year expected term; 77% 
volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.81% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $632,775, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(xii) On September 29, 2009, the Company granted 375,000 options to acquire 375,000 shares of the 
Company to an officer, director and consultant at a price of $4.19 per share. The fair value of these options at the 
date of the grant was estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five 
year expected term; 76% volatility; risk-free interest rate of 2.57% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The 
fair value assigned to these options was $987,000, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and 
co prehensive loss with a corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the 
options are vested. Vesting of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(xiii) On October 23, 2009, the Company granted 50,000 options to acquire 50,000 shares of the Company 
to consultants at a price of $5.40 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was 
estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a two year expected term; 
90%volatility; risk-free interest rate of 1.49% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to 
these options was $129,950, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss 
with a corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. 
Vesting of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(xiv) On October 23, 2009, the Company granted 40,000 options to acquire 40,000 shares of the Company 
to consultants at a price of $5.40 per share. The fair value of these options at the date of the grant was 
estimated using the Black Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 75% 
volatility; risk-free interest rate of 2.73% per annum; and a dividend rate of 0%. The fair value assigned to these 
options was $134,760, which will be expensed to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss with a 
corresponding amount allocated to stock options under shareholders’ equity as the options are vested. Vesting 
of these options is 25% immediately and 25% after each of 6, 12 and 18 months.

(xv) As a result, the weighted average fair value of the total options granted during the year ended October 31, 
2009, on the grant date was $1.93 (2008 - $3.59).

Stock-based compensation is comprised of:

  2009  2008

Value of stock options granted  $ 6,305,815  $ 2,027,200

Deduct value of stock options not vested  (4,201,311)  (471,223)

Add value of prior years stock options vested  458,367  773,556

  $ 2,562,871  $ 2,329,533
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14. Income taxes

(a) Provision for income taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the 
federal and provincial statutory rate of 33.08% (2008 - 33.94%) to the net loss. The reason for the difference is 
as follows:

  2009  2008

Net loss   $ (6,686,821)  $ (12,498,363)

Expected tax recovery at statutory rates  (2,212,000)  (4,241,944)

Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Unrealized (gain) loss on short-term investments  (21,143)  1,375,113

Mineral exploration properties  -  1,064,695

Non-capital losses not recognized  870,630  869,938

Non-taxable portion of capital gains  -  (117,733)

Stock-based compensation  847,798  790,644

Share of Guyana Precious net loss  439,412  259,287

Sale of Coppermine River Property  75,303  -

  $ -  $ -

(b) Future tax balances

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to future income tax assets and future income tax liabilities 
are as follows:

  2009  2008

Future income tax assets

Non-capital losses  $ 1,362,702  $ 402,800

Share issue costs  191,300  141,500

Equity investment  489,514  -

Mineral exploration properties  1,046,507  (137,000)

Investments   323,394 364,700

Valuation allowance  (3,413,417)  (772,000)

  $ -  $ -

(c) Losses carried forward

The Company has non-capital losses that will expire, if not utilized, as follows:

 2015  $ 742,314

 2026  813,743

 2027  91,235

 2028  50,032

 2029  3,001,650

  $ 4,698,974
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15. Related party transactions

(a) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are the following amounts due to related parties:

  2009  2008

To a former officer of the Company  $ 59,298  $ 59,298

To an officer of the Company  100,000  -

To a company controlled by an officer of the Company  11,492  12,317

To a company controlled by a director of the Company  4,725  -

To directors of the Company  24,600  -

  $ 200,115  $ 71,615

The balances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand.

(b) The Company had the following related party transactions during the periods presented:

  2009  2008

Operating expenses:

Management fees to officers of the Company  $ 188,503  $ 71,956

Management fees to a company controlled by an officer of the Company  42,000  105,764

Accounting fees to a company controlled by an officer of the Company 27,750  -

Consulting fees to a company controlled by a director of the Company  25,000  9,000

Consulting fees to directors of the Company  30,000  -

Mineral exploration expenditures:

Consulting fees to officers and directors of the Company $ 282,405  $ 251,452

(c) Included in accounts receivable is $nil (October 31, 2008 - $17,093) owing from Guyana Precious and $nil 
(October 31, 2008 - $29,074) owing from the Chief Executive Officer and former Chief Financial Officer. Du 
ing the year ended October 31, 2009, the Company received $20,532, (2008 - $40,292) for rent from Guyana 
Precious related to a cost sharing arrangement between the companies.

GGI has agreed to provide established logistical and geological support to Guyana Precious. GGI and Guyana 
Precious have signed an “Area of Influence” agreement that restricts Guyana Precious from participating in 
property acquisition and development within a defined area of GGI’s exploration and development activities in 
Guyana. In addition, GGI will have a “Right of First Opportunity” to acquire advanced stage properties in which 
there is a defined resource.

(d) An amount of $50,000 was advanced to a director by the Company pursuant to a promissory note bearing 
an interest rate equal to the Royal Bank of Canada prime rate plus 2% and which is due on demand but in any 
event was due and payable no later than March 1, 2009. The advance has been satisfied in full.

(e) The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company are also officers in the same capacity 
with Aranka (Note 3).

(f) Claude Lemasson, the President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, purchased an aggregate of 
363,636 units in the recent offering (Note 11(iv)).

All the above related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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In addition, the Company sold the remaining 50% interest in the Coppermine River Project to Guyana Precious 
(see Note 8).

16. Contingencies

(a) The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and regulations 
relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing and 
generally becoming more restrictive. As at October 31, 2009, the Company does not believe that there are any 
significant environmental obligations requiring material capital outlays in the immediate future and anticipates 
that such obligations will only arise when mine development commences.

(b) In July 2009, a former employee of GGI commenced an action against GGI seeking wrongful dismissal 
damages of $200,000 resulting from the termination of employment. The Company is contesting the claim. 
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be required in the 
final outcome of this litigation.

17. Commitments

(a) The Company is party to certain management and consulting contracts. These contracts contain clauses 
requiring additional payments to be made upon the occurence of certain events such as contract termination 
or change of control by the Company. The additional commitments range from $870,000 for contrac 
 termination to $1,680,000 as a result of a change of control. As the likelihood of these events taking place is not 
determinable, the contingent payments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The Company has purchased Property “C” in Guyana for which an additional $22,000,000 Guyanese dollars 
(approximately US $105,000) is payable upon receipt of mining permits issued to the Company (see Note 10).

18. Subsequent event

As of December 30, 2009, $230,250 was received on the exercise of 60,000 stock options and $50,000 was 
received on the exercise of 12,500 warrants.
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